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About us

Kellan Group is a market leading recruitment business
operating across a wide range of functional disciplines
and industry sectors. The Group’s strategy is to grow
into a significant business in the UK market, achieved
both by acquisition and organic growth.

Kellan Group currently comprises:

17 UK offices
7 businesses
3 brands

Glasgow

Preston
Warrington
Altrincham
Chester

Liverpool

Leeds
Elland
Manchester (x2)
Sheffield

Birmingham
Milton Keynes
London (x2)
Bristol

Guildford

Overview
ifc About us
1
Highlights of our year
2
Kellan at a glance. Our business
4
Co-Chairmen’s statement
Business review
6
Business review
Governance
16 Board of directors
17	Advisers, shareholder information
and financial calendar
18 Report of the directors

Accounts
20 Independent auditors’ report
21	Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income
22 Consolidated statement
of financial position
23	Consolidated statement of changes
in equity
24 Consolidated statement of cash flows
25 Notes to the financial statements
40 Company balance sheet
41 Notes to the financial statements
of the Company
44 Notice of annual general meeting

Overview

Highlights of our year

Business review

 oss for the period of £4,423,000 (2008: loss of £4,456,000) with an adjusted EBITDA
L
(earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation adjusted to add back
onerous lease provisions, restructuring costs, share-based payment charges and
goodwill impairment) loss of £1,767,000 (2008: profit of £2,643,000)
	Continued focus on cost reduction in line with income levels; headcount reduction
from over 350 in 2008 to 180 today

Governance

 urther office space consolidation in London, Leeds, Manchester and Birmingham
F
resulting in 17 operational offices including the move to a single head office in
London in March
 ignificantly improved second half with an adjusted EBITDA loss of £355,000
S
compared to an adjusted EBITDA loss of £1,412,000 in the first half of the year

Accounts

	Basic loss per share constant at 5.1p (2008: loss of 5.1p). Adjusted loss per share
(after adding back the impairment of goodwill), both basic and diluted, at 5.1p
(2008: profit of 0.7p)
 1m raised subsequent to the year end through the issue of convertible loan notes
£
to shareholders and cash position continues to be monitored carefully
	Appointment of new Chief Executive Officer bringing significant multi-sector
and acquisition experience to the Group
Investment in our people through the launch of a Group-wide SAYE scheme
Industry award nominations for Quantica Search & Selection and Berkeley Scott
 efocusing of our search business strategy through the appointment of a single
R
Group Managing Director for the Quantica and the RK Search and Selection divisions
and the re‑establishment of isis executive search within Berkeley Scott
Positively received rebrands of the RK Accountancy and RK Supply Chain businesses

Information about all our businesses
and brands can be found on our website
Visit: www.kellangroup.co.uk

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Kellan at a glance. Our business

Powerful
reputations
Through its three recruitment
brands, Berkeley Scott, Quantica
and RK, Kellan Group has the
capability and resource to recruit
professionals into finance
and accounting, information
technology, supply chain
and procurement, retail,
manufacturing, catering,
hospitality and leisure.

Berkeley Scott
Key sectors Catering, hospitality and leisure

For over 25 years, the Berkeley Scott name has been synonymous
with excellence in recruitment for the hospitality and leisure sectors.
From chefs to chief executives, we have been responsible for
introducing high quality talent into many of the best known brand
names in the industry. Our reputation for service, excellence and
integrity has made us the market leader in our sector.
Today, our client base includes a range of consumer-focused,
service-oriented sectors including retail, brewing, FMCG, facilities
management, travel and tourism. Berkeley Scott is comprised
of three key business lines: permanent recruitment; temporary
recruitment; and executive search (through the isis brand),
working in close harmony to provide a complete range of
recruitment and people services.

Quantica Search & Selection

Quantica Technology

Key sectors Manufacturing and retail

Key sectors IT professionals across all levels and industries

Quantica Search & Selection (“QSS”) is a niche provider of Search
& Selection recruitment services to a range of industry sectors,
covering manufacturing, technical and retail.

A market-leading specialist in the tailored recruitment of IT and
technology professionals, Quantica Technology has a successful
track record spanning over 14 years. Quantica Technology is an
information technology recruitment consultancy with local specialism
and national reach.

Working mainly on a retained basis, teams of consultants recruit
at levels from director and senior management positions through
to specialist operational roles. The majority of our work comes
from referral and returning clients and candidates, having developed
an impressive network since our formation in 1991.
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Specialising on specific technologies, we have a wealth of experience
in matching qualified individuals with technical skills in niches such
as E-Commerce, Microsoft Technologies, Network services, Testing,
NHS and Executive Appointments. Quantica Technology specialise
in permanent and contract/interim recruitment, both contingency
and retainer based.

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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RK Supply Chain

Robinson Keane

Key sectors Logistics, procurement and supply chain
planning professionals

Key sectors Executive and non-executive directors, nationwide

RK Supply Chain (“RKSC”) provides a bespoke and international
service specialising in the recruitment of procurement, supply
chain and logistics professionals. With a market leading network
and discreet Search & Selection service, our tailored recruitment
services are built on expertise, total transparency and a passion
to exceed expectations. Our clients range from multinational
corporations to SMEs and to date, we have successfully filled
85% of our top 15 clients’ roles.

Robinson Keane is a highly regarded board-level search consultancy,
built around a classic headhunting approach. We recruit nationally
for both executive and non-executive directors and, with our office
in Altrincham, inevitably have a particularly strong market share
in the North West.

With an international reach, covering entry to board-level roles,
we focus on permanent roles; temporary and fixed term contracts;
interim management; executive Search & Selection and; global
talent sourcing.

We compete successfully with the UK’s other leading search firms
across most business sectors and disciplines and have an increasingly
strong public sector presence. Robinson Keane clients range from
FTSE 100 companies through ambitious private companies to venture
capital backed start-up operations.

RK Accountancy

RK Search

Key sectors Clerical finance staff through to qualified accountants,
across all industries and practice

Key sectors Senior appointments within private equity-backed
and AIM-listed businesses, contact centres and commercial
contract business

A market-leading specialist in the recruitment of permanent and
temporary accountancy staff, RK Accountancy (“RKA”) has a heritage
and a pedigree to be proud of. Established in 1996, we have
a successful track record spanning two different decades and
we have built up close links with all sizes of organisations and
the accountancy institutes.

RK Search are three highly focused niche search businesses
specialising in outsourcing, energy and infrastructure, customer
service and finance. The search practices deal largely with
multi-national market leading corporations meeting a demand
for highly-specific and hard to find senior management skill sets
both in the UK and increasingly overseas.

We are focused on providing first class clerical to qualified temporary
and permanent accounting staff. Individuals that meet our clients’
exact requirements. Specialists in our field, our local knowledge
and sector experience is second to none.

By concentrating on specific disciplines in tightly defined markets,
using advanced search techniques and by investing to build long-term
relationships with highly regarded individuals, each practice is able
to offer its clients rapid access to strongly referenced and ambitious
candidates who meet the typically demanding technical specification
for the role.

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Co-Chairmen’s statement

powerful
Leadership
1. John Bowmer
Non‑executive Co‑Chairman
2. Tony Reeves
Non‑executive Co‑Chairman

2.

1.

Summary
We have closed some offices

that we believe are not viable
in the long term and have
consolidated space across
the various brands.
e continue our careful
W
cash management.
e have started 2010 with
W
a much stronger performance
than 2009 and we are optimistic
that our revenues will continue
to grow.
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In common with many other industrial
sectors the staffing industry had its worst
year in over three decades in 2009. For Kellan
this meant that revenues were down by
almost half compared to 2008. Whilst we
began corrective action to stabilise Kellan
in the last quarter of 2008, nobody could
have predicted what became such a
well-documented, deep and rapid decline
into recession. Consequently we had to
continue to cut expenses dramatically
through most of the year. Not unexpectedly,
despite these reductions, we made a
substantial loss in the first half of 2009.
However, as a result of a slight upturn in
revenues and further cost reductions our
losses reduced significantly in the second
half of the year.

The second largest component of our costs
after people is leased property. We have
reduced these costs and liabilities substantially
in the last year. We have closed some offices
that we believe are not viable in the long-term
and have consolidated space across the
various brands. The property market was
hit hard in 2009 and this created some
difficulties in finding prospective tenants.
Nevertheless, in the first half of 2010 we
are proactively looking to sublet several
properties and thus reduce the cash drain
from those premises.

In a business like Kellan, where staff expenses
at the start of 2009 were 70% of our total
costs, it was painful and very difficult to
reduce our staff from over 350 in 2008 to 180
today. This was unfortunately necessary to
survive. Whilst this meant releasing some
very good people, we have been very careful
to hold staff cuts to a bare minimum, not
only to try to keep as many of our excellent
people as possible in the business but also
to maintain a company that can expand
rapidly when better times return.

We were extremely encouraged by the
volume of applications received from some
very strong and highly respected individuals
for the vacant Chief Executive Officer position.
In April 2009 we appointed Ross Eades.
Ross brings to Kellan significant experience
in multi-sector recruitment organisations,
firstly in a previous role with MPS Group
and latterly with Interquest PLC. On joining
Ross went through a baptism of fire but he
quickly got to grips with the tough situation
and brought about some immediate changes
to the organisation to rationalise our cost base.
We are very pleased with the tremendous job
that he has done in stabilising the Company.
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We continue our careful cash management,
monitoring cash regularly and our days’
sales outstanding at the end of the year
is a satisfactory 44 days.

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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“You are a regular visitor to Heinz and have supported us tremendously
with successful campaigns throughout 2009. You have also helped us
appoint senior positions at our largest food factory. You demonstrate an
agile and flexible approach, making sure that the solution is bespoke for
our particular need, and offering your wealth of experience in designing
this with us. Regular progress updates and telephone calls made me
know that you were completely in control and taking excellent care of us.
This left us free to focus on other aspects of our roles.”
Heinz

We have started 2010 with a much stronger
performance than 2009 and we are optimistic
that our revenues will continue to grow.
We have always been of a mind that it is
vital to capture market share during difficult
times. With a focus on this during 2009,
we are confident that we are poised for
growth. We maintain our strategy to grow
organically all existing brands faster
than the market. We also intend to gain
competitive advantage by entering niche,
high margin segments of the staffing
market. Our acquisition programme paused
last year mainly because sellers of good
companies continued to expect very high
prices and sellers of distressed companies
often gave what we considered unrealistic
timescales to complete a transaction.
We will continue to monitor and evaluate
relevant buying opportunities and prospects
and we remain convinced that we will see
reduced prices later in the year. We intend to
take full advantage of any suitable opportunity.
In February 2010 we issued a Convertible
Loan Note to raise £1m. This has
strengthened the Company’s balance
sheet and has enabled us to continue
to meet our repayment obligations on
outstanding long-term debt, whilst also
maintaining sufficient working capital
for our day-to-day requirements.

www.kellangroup.co.uk

Finally, we thank all of our people for
their fortitude and hard work during this
demanding year. It has not been easy to
maintain strong morale in difficult markets,
but everyone has worked tirelessly together
to serve our customers well. The advantages
of this will be reflected in the months ahead,
when we anticipate that we will see a positive
impact on income.
We also thank you, our shareholders,
for your continuing support throughout
a challenging year. We are convinced that
the future, based on a powerful business
model, will provide us with success.

We have been very careful
to hold staff cuts to a bare
minimum, not only to try
to keep as many of our
excellent people as possible
in the business but also to
maintain a company that can
expand rapidly when better
times return.

John Bowmer		

Co-Chairman
30 March 2010

Tony Reeves

Co-Chairman
30 March 2010
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Business review

powerful
Strategy
1. Ross Eades
Chief Executive Officer
2. Will Coker
Chief Financial Officer

1.

2.

Summary
We continued to invest in our

organic development and
also refocused our Search
& Selection businesses.
e were able to use SAYE as
W
a reward to our people and in
turn they showed their belief
and loyalty in their respective
brands and the business overall.
ove to a centralised office
M
in the West End of London.
chieving success in a number
A
of industry related awards.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
Introduction
It gives me great pleasure to write my first
review as Chief Executive Officer since joining
the Company in April 2009.
I am sure that it comes as no surprise that
2009 was a particularly challenging year for
recruitment businesses generally and the
impact on the Kellan Group has necessarily
led to a delay in the realisation of some of
our future plans and ambitions. However,
despite these challenges we remain an
acquisitive, ambitious and multi-functional
recruitment business with a clear growth
strategy for the future.
At the beginning of the year, in light of the
continuing difficult economic conditions,
it was clear that immediate and rigorous
action was required and to this end we
set about reducing the overall cost base
of the business, whilst working to secure
the individual brands and maximise all
revenue streams. The measures taken
resulted in a reduction in overall heads
within the business from over 350 to 180
at year end and contributed towards the
Group achieving an adjusted EBITDA loss
of £355,000 during the second half of 2009;
a significant improvement on the £1,412,000
loss achieved in the first half of the year.
Also instrumental to this improvement
was a combination of determined work
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by all our people, strict application of
economies of scale, strong leadership
and powerful brands.
Although the business objectives for 2009
became more short term than we had
anticipated and difficult choices and
decisions had to be made, we were still
successful in putting a number of key
initiatives into place. We continued to invest
in our organic development through the
revival of isis executive search, to support
the Berkeley Scott brand expansion. We
have also refocused our Search & Selection
businesses under one Group Managing
Director. I am confident that greater synergies
can be derived and mutual benefits achieved
from having someone acting as a pivotal point
leading our Search & Selection businesses
which are crucial to our short and long-term
success. We have also developed our overall
Group marketing strategies so that they
have become more commercially astute,
resulting in an increase in preferred
supplier business.
The move to a centralised office in the
West End of London has also ensured that
the support service functions are based in
one location for the first time and this gives
us the ability to scale up operations quickly
and efficiently. The last part of the Quantica
Group integration into Kellan Group was

www.kellangroup.co.uk

Overview

We continue to value our people, initiating
the Company’s first ever Save As You
Earn (“SAYE”) scheme. Our investment
in people has been further underlined
by achieving success in a number of
industry related awards.

Our consultant numbers reduced to reflect
the decrease in business being transacted
throughout the sector. As a result, it was
vital to retain critical mass within certain
geographies, and so we co-ordinated this

The outlook for the business in 2010 remains
difficult to predict particularly with temporary
margin and average permanent fees continuing
to be under pressure, but Net Fee Income
(“NFI”) per head is up, indicating improved
efficiency in our billing. There are conflicting
messages within the hotel sector, as some
groups are creating roles whilst others
are still finding trading difficult. The chef’s
market remains good for both temporary
and permanent business and continues
to be a real focus for us along with the
contract catering sector. We hope to benefit
from the retention of strong consultants,
weakness amongst competitors and the
increased business being seen from
the 2012 Olympics. Nevertheless we
are optimistic – the volume of jobs
being registered has improved and there
is an increase in business, especially
in London on both the temporary and
permanent side.

“You have provided us with an exceptional service and superb candidates
over the last few years. You have been able to identify some really good
people, working in functions that are extremely difficult to recruit for.
We are very satisfied with your business on all levels and it is a pleasure
to work with you.”
Johnson & Johnson

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Accounts

Hospitality is widely reported as being
one of the most, if not the most, affected
sectors within recruitment during 2009.
Whilst financial performance has been
below that predicted at the beginning
of the year, comparative to the sector,
Berkeley Scott remains strong.

The strength of Berkeley Scott has always
been its people and despite tough trading
there have been a number of staff promotions
as well as the recruitment of several extremely
talented individuals into the various teams,
when the need has arisen, in order to maintain
this position. We have been encouraged by
the success in being placed onto an increased
number of preferred supplier lists (“PSLs”)
and exclusive partnerships. Front office and
support functions work closely together
to add value to our clients and we have
implemented a fresh approach to marketing.
We have added value to the industry through
our support of Springboard (the hospitality
industry charity) and have received praise
from the British Hospitality Association.

One key success in 2009 was the
re‑establishment of isis. isis is an
executive and board-level search practice
that deals solely with senior appointments
within the hospitality and leisure industries.
At present, we have recruited three talented
individuals into the brand and it is already
returning high levels of fees.

Governance

Berkeley Scott
2009 saw Berkeley Scott celebrate 25 years
of trading. It was an opportune time to remind
ourselves and our clients of the longevity
of the brand and its success in weathering
previous economic storms.

with a managed rationalisation of operations
to benefit from economies of scale. Our
South East operations in Godalming and
Southampton were combined into a single
regional centre in Guildford and our Northern
operation in Leeds has been moved into
the Manchester location. We have also
been able to leverage off the combined
Group’s strength. Our London permanent
team has relocated to the corporate head
office and our Birmingham operation now
shares accommodation with another
Group Company.

Business review

finalised in 2009, with IT systems now
being managed centrally within Kellan,
as opposed to at regional level.

Business review continued

“We have worked closely with you over a number of years and you have
made a significant number of high quality, best-fit placements. We are
impressed by your network and professional approach and would
recommend you as the preferred recruitment partner.”
Fujitsu

Berkeley Scott continued
At the time of writing Berkeley Scott is the
only hospitality recruiter to have received
a nomination for the “Recruiter Awards
for Excellence” for the 2009 period.
Quantica Search & Selection
During 2009 QSS refined its strategy to clearly
focus on its core market sectors, namely
manufacturing and retail, in particular growing
its manufacturing brand in successful niche
markets such as Food & Beverages and
Biotechnology & Medical Devices; whilst
expanding the retail brand across Europe.

Celebrating 25 years
of Berkeley Scott
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The Kellan Group’s move to a London head
office has allowed QSS to benefit from
a central base from which they can now
meet candidates and have immediate
access to their heavily focused London
and South East client base.

client relationships. Positively we have
run a number of high profile advertising
campaigns for Burton’s Foods, Heinz and
PepsiCo as well as continuing to deliver
exclusive and retained search assignments
across a loyal client base. There are early
signs of growth in 2010 and the London head
office will aid the expansion of the business.
In November QSS was declared a “Top
Finalist” in Jobsite’s 2009 RecruitRank
Awards. Recognising best practice and
quality customer service in recruitment
agencies, the RecruitRank Awards are
the only accolades in the industry where
finalists and winners are chosen by the
feedback from candidates and not a panel
of industry judges.

The retail brand continues to trade well
benefiting from better trading conditions
across Europe compared to the UK. We
have become strategic recruitment partners
for several leading retail brands currently
expanding on the continent such as
Claire’s and Guess.

Whilst trading conditions are expected
to continue to be challenging throughout
2010, the kudos of the QSS brand and the
strength of many long-standing client and
candidate relationships will support the
gaining of market share as competitors
fall away. Investment in a new website
will re-establish our online strength and
enable us to take advantage of new
purchasing patterns by businesses.

The manufacturing arm has had mixed
fortunes, reflecting the difficult UK trading
conditions, and has stabilised around a team
of long serving consultants and established

Quantica Technology
The contract numbers in Quantica Technology
dropped during the first half of 2009 and
became relatively flat as we were unable

Kellan Group plc Annual report and accounts 2009
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Overview

Instrumental to our
improvement was a
combination of determined
work by all our people,
strict application of
economies of scale,
strong leadership and
powerful brands.

RK Supply Chain rebrand

to win new client mandates and relied too
heavily on existing clients who retracted
their recruitment requirements.

focus for the Technology division in 2010
is to capitalise on its existing client base
but crucially to build relationships with
major buyers of IT staff in new markets.
This will be aided by the building of new
consultancy teams in the London and
Manchester offices of the Group.

Governance

RK Accountancy
2009 was one of the most challenging
periods in RK Accountancy’s history with
a fall in NFI for the first time since our launch
eleven years ago. During this period we
maintained our office infrastructure whilst
reducing headcount, mainly through natural
attrition, in line with local market demand.
Combined with prudent cost control and
drawing on Group synergy through combining
office space, the impact on underlying
profitability was reduced.
The structure of the business has been
developed to support a national growth
strategy with an operational leader accountable
for the development of each specific region
through a network of local offices. Each
office consists of a team of local experts
capable of delivering outstanding service
levels and long-term recruitment solutions
for our customers. Our strategy is to both
retain and expand our customer base

Re-establishing isis

through reputation and recommendation
and maximise our local market share.

Accounts

We begin 2010 with a good contract platform
and although the contract market is still slow,
there seems to be increased activity within
the banking sector and NHS. Permanent
fee business is looking more positive with
numerous opportunities in the fields of
.Net development and Retail/e-Commerce.
We are currently in good shape to achieve
the first quarter forecast. With a much needed
new website and a range of business
development initiatives in place, the major

Business review

This changed during the third quarter
with the adoption of a new management
structure within Quantica Technology,
which has been successful in engaging
more proactively with the Group as a whole.
This has allowed us to see increased
success through internal recruitment,
marketing opportunities and importantly
contract wins. We have recruited new
sales people to the team who are already
delivering and have set about restructuring
a core team of vertical market specialists.
As a result the business stabilised and hit
its revenue and contribution targets during
the second half of 2009.

RK Accountancy rebrand

Image by T Brain

We invested in a brand refresh to support this
strategy which has been rolled out both on
and off line to effectively communicate the
expertise of our people and their capability
to deliver a competitive edge to our
customers. We redeveloped our website
as an online career portal, designed and
built to complement social networking
and substantive e-marketing strategies.
Since the launch of the refreshed brand,
RKA has been invited to pitch for 40%
more opportunities with clients than
for the same period in 2008. Candidate
applications have increased by 70% and
website traffic by 180%. The level of referrals
has increased by 30% and results of a recent
survey indicate that our brand awareness
has risen by 25%.
Within our current infrastructure we are
expanding into the interim and senior qualified
markets. We have recruited an experienced
manager with a good track record for one
of the North West regions to lead this
expansion. Additionally we have a positive
mix of both internal and external solutions
to fill other opportunities at this level.

Business units by revenue

isis

6

1

5

executive search

2
4
3
1 Berkeley Scott
2	Quantica Search & Selection
3 Quantica Technology
4 RK Accountancy
5 RK Supply Chain
6 RK Search and Robinson Keane

www.kellangroup.co.uk

£8.2m
£4.2m
£6.2m
£6.3m
£2.3m
£2.0m
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Business review continued

powerful
brands
RK Accountancy continued
This will allow RKA to deliver a total solution
to our clients increasing our ability to
create long-term customer loyalty.
With the sector beginning to see increased
activity, we are confident that the positive
effects of the rebrand and the expertise
within our business will ensure a return to
NFI growth. Further expansion in 2010 will
be achieved through plans to open other
office locations within the existing office
infrastructure of the Group.
RK Supply Chain
RKSC rebranded in the early part of 2009.
The solution rested on evolving the brand,
creating and delivering a clear and relevant
proposition to both clients and candidates.
The new brand identity, bold in status
and relevant in statement, represents the
three areas of the supply chain recruitment
process that RKSC specialises in, namely:
Supply Chain; Logistics; and Procurement.
Terry Brain, illustrator behind Ricky Gervais’s
Flanimals and Trap Door, was commissioned
to help craft the visual aspects and the
website was then also redeveloped as
a job-search tool.

Despite the economic downturn, brand
tracking has shown an increase in awareness
of the RKSC brand by around 40%. Candidate
applications have increased by 60% and new
client engagements by 20%. The perception
in the market is that the size of the RKSC
team, its experience, and breadth of clients
means it is now one of the largest specialist
supply chain recruitment teams in the UK
and North America.
As a business, 2009 had been seen as a
real opportunity for growth. Unfortunately
the economic recession hit purchasing and
procurement departments hard, having
an almost overnight effect. This forced
us to look at our cost base and importantly
the upfront investment into the brand.
We temporarily withdrew from the Leeds
and Manchester offices and moved our
London operation to the new corporate
head office, reducing the number of
staff significantly.
At the end of the year, we promoted the
Managing Director of QSS to also lead
RKSC, which provides the added benefit
of realising the value in relationships across
key manufacturing and retail accounts.

Nominated for Recruiter
Awards for Excellence 2010
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We have also benefited from being on a
large number of PSLs, which provide a
consistent base of work from which RKSC
can continue to grow. The team consists of
extremely capable, experienced consultants
and the revised cost base has significantly
increased revenues per head and overall
profitability. 2010 has begun well and the
business will re-grow in a prudent manner,
leveraging the investment in the brand
during last year.
RK Search
RK Search comprises four sub-brands,
all of whose markets were hit hard by
the recession.
As a result, during the year it was necessary
to scale-back operations within RK Acumen
(specialist consultancy recruiting for senior
sales and solution owner roles within the
outsourcing sector) and discontinue with
RK Connect (middle management to director
level positions across the contact centre
function). Across the remaining brands we
retained as many fee earners as possible, but
the number of non-fee generating research
staff and candidate liaison personnel were
significantly reduced as we aligned to the
prevailing market conditions.

Finalist for
RecruitRank Awards 2009
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“We have had an excellent relationship with you over a number of years.
We have always found you very helpful with a good understanding of
our staffing requirements and have had many successful recruits both
for permanent and temporary positions. Whenever there are any
staffing requirements you are always the first number we call.”
Royal London

We have recently seen some small signs
of improved workflow from the financial
community, related to growth rather than
pure replacement positions. This leads
us to believe that RK Catalyst (consultancy
that recruits finance directors and controllers
for private equity-backed and AIM-listed
businesses) should improve its performance
in 2010. The technology players who are
major clients for RK Commercial Contracts
Practice (a complete recruitment service
provided to the commercial contracts
discipline, and the national market leader in
its field) responded to the market downturn
by largely withdrawing from external hiring
in 2009. More positively, 2010 has begun
with an improvement in the number of
interim appointments and a cautious
optimism with regard to permanent
hires from some key historic clients.

strength of the business. In addition,
we added a new fee earner to the business
part way through the year and have developed
a number of new business streams. Within
the North West our reputation is at an all
time high, a strength from which we can
benefit as many large national and
international headhunting firms are
retreating to their London bases.
We have also seen a number of assignments
for high profile clients such as Hilti, Tarmac
and the NHS. During 2010 we are confident
of our ability to take further market share,
and anticipate improved business throughout
the North West in the key areas of the NHS,
local government and universities/higher
education and it remains our intention to
recruit further fee earners throughout the year.

Robinson Keane
Robinson Keane is a boutique board
level headhunting business based
in the Altrincham office, with both
national and international reach.

Kellan Group Support Services
Having our support services situated in
the one place has created a better level
of inter-departmental communication and
a more structured corporate environment
for the first time.

Although 2009 was a difficult year, revenues
held up better than might have been feared,
at 15% below the previous year. Brand
leadership remains strong, however, and
the research team remains a distinctive

We have some strong leaders across
the Group, particularly within credit,
finance, IT, HR & Internal Recruitment and
Marketing & Business Systems who are
now delivering an effective but streamlined

www.kellangroup.co.uk

service to the business, supported by
teams of dedicated specialists across
all support services disciplines.
We have amalgamated the front office
business systems department with the
marketing department to generate synergies,
cost savings and a single point of leadership.
Our IT department has also worked hard to
rationalise its cost base whilst simultaneously
retaining key expertise and improving the
overall support to the entire Group. Previous
external support has been brought in-house
and centralised through the corporate
head office.
Towards the end of 2008 we outlined how
we had recruited a number of “Head of” roles.
The effect of this could be seen throughout
2009. The marketing department quickly
and successfully put in preventative
measures to make considerable savings
over the year, whilst more closely aligning
itself to the business in order to deliver
better performance across a number of
metrics including a 40% increase in bids/
tenders won. During difficult times our
HR department has become a critical part
of the business and has maintained best
practice and compassion when implementing
difficult decisions efficiently.
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Business review continued

“You have been an invaluable help and support to our business over the last
twelve months, providing us with a range of excellent candidates who were
able to adapt to the needs of our business very quickly. This is due to the
excellent selection process put in place by the team who ensure all candidates
meet our recruitment criteria. You support our business at every stage; not
only placing the candidates but through the after service attention.”
Adobe Hotels

Our people
2009 was a hard year for all of us and
without exception each and every one
of our people have applied themselves
diligently, professionally and commercially.
Many are taking on additional duties
to ensure we successfully weather the
economic storm and for a business built
on its people, ours have proven themselves
to be the very best and I am incredibly proud
and privileged to be working with them.
The entire Board recognised the
importance and value of our people by
opening up an employee SAYE scheme.
This was the first time our business had
operated such a scheme, which was three
times oversubscribed when applications
closed. I am proud that we were able to use
SAYE as a reward to our people and in turn
they showed their belief and loyalty in their
respective brands and business overall.
Outlook
There is still a lack of visibility in the demand
for our services and overall our trading areas
are very competitive with many competitors
chasing the same business. However, I am
pleased to say that in most of our businesses
we have been successful in gaining exclusivity
on an increasing number of assignments and
this remains a focus for us throughout the
year ahead. I would like to be able to discuss
the longer-term strategic plans for the Group,
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however at this time the immediate focus
must be on the short to medium term.
We must continue to endure the current
economic conditions and take advantage
of any increase in business, whilst ensuring
that we remain well positioned for the upturn.
Therefore, all initiatives planned for 2010
are linked to improving our position.
The immediate plan for 2010 has been
to focus on organic growth and the target
remains for each business to achieve
a sensible split between NFI and staff
related costs. Beyond that we should
be able to obtain further synergies by
getting our Search & Selection businesses
to work more closely together and
ensuring that we maximise our Group
preferred supplier contracts.
The difficult market conditions that the Group
has experienced over the last twelve months
are beginning to ease slightly. Client enquiries
have been steadily growing over the last
six months and the downward pressure
we saw on margins is beginning to ease.
We will continue to enforce rigid controls
over costs, which we aim to streamline
further, where appropriate.
The forthcoming year will, however, continue
to challenge the wider recruitment sector
and cash liquidity remains a key issue for
the business. There are some signs that
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banks are cautiously re‑entering the market
and we anticipate this will increase the
working capital available to our clients,
some of which we hope will be diverted
to recruitment.
Through our multi-brand approach Kellan
Group is not exposed to the fluctuations
within one industry. We believe that this,
coupled with the long‑term partnerships
that our brands have fostered over 2009,
offer us the certainty of a secure income
stream which extends over many years.
This provides us with a stable platform
from which we can take advantage of the
current market conditions to secure further
business. We will also continue to grow
our business through organic growth and
via acquisition. As more pressure is placed
on value for money across all sectors, the
capability of the Group to provide clients
with a total recruitment solution has never
been so strong.
Above all we know that our success in
2010 will be based on all of our incredible
people who have seen us through the
difficulties and we will support them
as much as we can throughout the year.
I would like to thank our Board colleagues
and all investors for their loyalty, support
and practical assistance throughout a
challenging year.

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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One of the main key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) used to measure trading performance,
adjusted EBITDA, was a loss of £1,767,000
(2008: profit £2,643,000). However, the effect
of the cost reduction initiatives could be
seen in the latter half of 2009 through a
significantly improved second half with
an adjusted EBITDA loss of £355,000
compared to an adjusted EBITDA loss
of £1,412,000 in the first half of the year.
Onerous lease and restructuring costs
The Group recorded onerous lease and
restructuring costs of £1,858,000 (2008:
£600,000) during the period as we continued
to cut and consolidate our cost base in line
with reducing income levels.
£945,000 (2008: £185,000) of this relates
to onerous lease costs whereby an accrual
is made for residual property related costs
on exited premises from the date of vacation
through to the end of the lease term. The
charge booked in 2009 relates principally
to individual offices in Elland, Manchester
and Leeds where the remaining staff were
consolidated into existing premises.

The accounts of the holding Company,
Kellan Group plc continue to be reported
under UK GAAP.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group is required to test, on an annual
basis, whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. The recoverable amount
is determined based on value in use
calculations. The use of this method
requires an estimation of future cash
flows and the choice of a discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of
the cash flows. Details of the assumptions
used are contained in note 10 to the accounts.
The outcome of the testing this year indicated
there was no impairment required to the value
of goodwill (2008: £5,049,000).
International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”)
The Group presented consolidated accounts
under IFRS as adopted by the EU for the
first time in 2007. In 2009 there were two
additional standards that impacted the
Group’s annual report and accounts:
	IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” which we
adopted earlier than required, in 2008,
to give more disclosure in the financial
statements regarding the Group’s
operating segments.
	IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” (Revised 2007) which
prescribes new titles and presentation
layouts to the primary statements.
We first adopted these layouts in the
half year interim results of the Group
for the six months ended 30 June 2009.

Monitoring, risk and KPIs
Risk management is an important part of the
management process throughout the Group.
The composition of the Kellan Group plc
Board is structured to give balance and
expertise when considering governance,
financial and operational recruitment
issues. Meetings incorporate, amongst
other agenda items, a review of monthly
management accounts, operational and
financial KPIs and major issues and risks
facing the business.
The most important KPIs used in monitoring
the business are shown in the table below.
The principal risks faced by the Group in
the current economic climate are considered
to be financial, market and people related:
Financial
The main financial risks arising from the
Company’s activities are interest rate risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. These are
monitored by the Board of directors and
are disclosed further in notes 1 and 16
of the financial statements.
Towards the end of the year we initiated
a fundraising of £1m before expenses
through the issue of convertible loan
notes to shareholders. This transaction
was completed in February 2010 with
the funds being used to service scheduled
loan capital and interest payments as well
as maintain working capital requirements.
All scheduled debt servicing payments
were met during 2009.

Monitoring, risk and KPIs
The most important KPIs used in monitoring the business are as follows:
		
		

Revenue		
Net Fee Income		
Adjusted EBITDA		
Adjusted EBITA as a % of Net Fee Income		
Days sales outstanding (“DSO”)		
Headroom on working capital facilities		

www.kellangroup.co.uk

12 months ended
31 December 2009

£29,249,000
£12,650,000
£(1,767,000)
(17.5%)
44
£808,000

12 months ended
31 December 2008

£46,720,000
£22,812,000
£2,643,000
9.7%
39
£4,700,000

15 months ended
31 December 2007

£30,275,000
£14,981,000
£402,000
(0.0%)
48
£3,300,000
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Accounts

Although the Group made significant
cost reductions, cutting its administrative
expenses to £17,094,000 (2008: £21,768,000
excluding the impairment of goodwill charge),
the inevitable time taken to reduce the level
of costs and respond to changing conditions
did not prevent the Group returning a loss
for the period of £4,423,000, a similar result
to the prior year loss of £4,456,000.

There was no effect on the results, cash
flows or financial position of the Group
through the adoption of either standard.

Governance

Revenues in the Group fell by 37.4% in 2009
to £29,249,000 (2008: £46,720,000) and NFI
by 44.5% to £12,650,000 (2008: £22,812,000)
reflecting the difficult market conditions in
the UK recruitment sector.

£913,000 (2008: £415,000) was booked
in respect of staffing restructure and
redundancy costs as the Group was
reluctantly forced into reducing its main
cost: personnel. The charge represents
redundancy monies and the cost of
unworked notice periods, often referred
to as “gardening leave”.

Business review

Chief Financial Officer’s report
This review presents key elements of Kellan’s
financial performance and expands upon
key features of the financial statements
set out on pages 21 to 43.

Business review continued

powerful
reporting
Monitoring, risk and KPIs continued
Financial continued
It is likely that further funding will be
required to meet the Group’s working
capital requirements during the latter
part of 2010. The directors are confident
that sufficient additional funding will be
obtained as and when required although
this can not be guaranteed.
Following the fundraising and an improvement
in trading performance in the second half
of 2009, we are in the process of agreeing
formal amended terms with Barclays. If the
Group is unable to agree amended terms the
lenders could request early repayment of all
outstanding borrowings. These discussions
around future banking terms remain ongoing;
however the Group has received a letter
from its bank indicating they expect to
continue to provide the facilities, and the
directors are not aware of any issues which
would prevent the required amendments
from being agreed.

Market
The Group operates in a dynamic marketplace,
and constantly seeks to ensure the solutions
it offers to customers are completive.
By operating in various diverse sectors,
the Group is, to some degree, protected
from a deteriorating market. Nevertheless
throughout most of 2009 the economic
downturn significantly affected the recruitment
sector. The depth and length of the downturn,
combined with the Group’s predominance
of permanent recruitment fees, generated
mostly in the UK, represent a risk.
People
In a people intensive business, the resignation
of key individuals (both billing consultants
and influential management) and the potential
for them to exit the business taking clients,
candidates and other employees to their new
employers is a risk. Kellan mitigates this risk
through a number of methods including
the application of competitive pay structures
and share plans to incentivise retention.
In addition the Group’s employment contracts

Kellan and all the brands are proud
members of the Association of
Professional Staffing Companies

contain restrictive covenants that reduce
a leaver’s ability to approach Kellan clients,
candidates and employees for certain
periods following the end of their
employment with the Group.
Cash flow and financing
Consequential to the 2009 trading loss the
net cash outflow from operating activities
was £1,801,000 (2008: inflow of £3,452,000).
Investing activities comprised £10,000 of
earned interest (2008: £77,000) and capital
expenditure of £372,000 (2008: £599,000).
Capital was spent mainly on fitting out
the new London head office including
IT hardware as we centralised the back
office into one location. As outlined in the
half year interim report for the six months
ended June 30 2009 the final piece of the
Quantica integration jigsaw is to be the
consolidation of IT networks in 2010 when
the respective contracts end. We have
initiated planning for this and will have
it completed by mid year.

Summary financial trends
(£m)
14

 NFI  Cost  Profit

12
10
8
6
4
2
0
–2

08 H1

08 H2
Period

09 H1

09 H2

Cost incorporates all costs between NFI and Adjusted ebitda.
Data Source: includes reference to the published unaudited
half-year accounts to 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009.
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As a result of the above the Group’s gearing
profile, being the face value of loans and
borrowings £5,071,000 (2008: £3,360,000)
as a percentage of total equity £19,689,000
(2008: £24,179,000), worsened to 25.8%
from 13.9%.

Loss per share
Loss per share (basic and diluted) remained
constant at 5.1p (2008: loss of 5.1p).

Ross Eades 	 

Chief Executive Officer
30 March 2010

Will Coker 	 

Chief Financial Officer
30 March 2010

Accounts

Financial income and expenses
The financial expenses for the period
of £359,000 (2008: £510,000) comprise
interest and amortised loan costs in respect
of bank loans and confidential invoice
discounting facilities. Charges are partially
offset by financial income of £44,000

Tax
The Group’s underlying tax credit was
£336,000 (2008: charge of £18,000)
relating to the release of a corporation
tax liability of £212,000 (2008: charge
of £145,000) and a release of £124,000
(2008: £127,000) in respect of deferred
tax on the intangible amortisation. It is
anticipated that the Group’s ongoing rate
will be broadly in line with the standard
rate of corporation tax, subject to its ability
to utilise tax losses brought forward and
temporary timing differences.

Options held in respect of the ordinary
shares of the Company do not have
a dilutive effect on the earnings/loss
per share calculation.

Governance

The net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents in the period was £738,000
(2008: increase of £760,000).

(2008: £77,000), being interest of £10,000
and a credit of £34,000 in respect of the fair
value of the interest rate collar instrument.

Business review

Net cash inflow from financing activities
amounted to £1,425,000 (2008: outflow
of £2,170,000) comprising a drawdown
on unutilised invoice discounting facilities
to provide working capital as well as
service the scheduled loan repayments
and interest.

On an adjusted basis, after adding back
the impairment of goodwill in the prior
year, loss per share (basic and diluted)
worsened to 5.1p (2008: profit of 0.7p).

“Thank you for helping Thomas Cook with some key placements within our
business. The speed with which you respond to our requests undoubtedly
helps us to stay on top of key areas within our organisation.”
Thomas Cook

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Board of directors

2.

1.

3.

1. John Bowmer (R, A)
Non-executive Co‑Chairman

2. Tony Reeves (R, A)
Non-executive Co-Chairman

3. Ross Eades
Chief Executive Officer

John Bowmer is the former chairman of Swiss
quoted Adecco SA, the world’s largest staffing
company where he was chief executive officer
from its formation in 1996, through the merger
of Ecco and Adia, to 2002. Prior to this, between
1992 and 1996 he was chief executive officer of
Adia and between 1987 and 1992 he served in a
variety of executive positions at Adia in the UK,
Asia, Australia and the US. Previously, John held
a range of management positions in marketing
and finance at companies including MAI plc, a
financial services and media organisation and
Polaroid (UK) Ltd. He is an investor in, and adviser
to, several private equity companies in the US.
He was a director of CP Ships from its flotation
on the New York Stock Exchange in 2001 until
its disposal to TUI AG at the end of 2005. In 2007
he became a non-executive director of Hireright
Inc., a NASDAQ quoted employment screening
company, until it was sold recently.

Tony Reeves has over 45 years’ experience in the
recruitment sector, most recently as chairman
and chief executive officer of Hotgroup plc
from 2002 until its acquisition by Trinity Mirror
Group plc in September 2005. Prior to that
Tony was chairman and chief executive officer
of the Delphi Group plc until its acquisition
by Adecco SA in 1998. He is also a private
investor in various early stage companies.
Before joining Delphi Group plc, Tony was
chairman, president and chief executive
officer of Lifetime Corporation, which was
then a public company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange.

Ross Edes began his career in IT recruitment
in 1988 with Hunterskil. In 1997, he was
appointed chief executive officer of MPS
Group International plc, a group of IT and
Professional Services recruitment companies,
which included such brands as Modis and
Badenoch & Clark. During his tenure the group
grew both organically and through acquisition,
increasing sales revenue from £72m to £286m
and EBIT from £3m to £21m. Ross joined
InterQuest Group, an AIM-listed specialist
staffing business, as chief executive officer
in 2003 where he achieved increasing sales
revenue from £12m to £104m and EBIT from
£180,000 to £5.4m. Ross joined Kellan Group
as its Chief Executive Officer in April 2009.

4.

5.

4. Will Coker
Chief Financial Officer
Will Coker qualified as a chartered accountant
with Price Waterhouse in London before moving
to the BOC Group in 1993 as audit manager.
In 1996 Will was seconded to Ohmeda Australia,
BOC’s Australian healthcare business, as finance
and operations director before moving to
Thomas Cook/Travelex Australia in 1999 as
financial controller. Recruited in 2002 by
Philips Medical Systems Australasia as
finance director, he was involved in a series
of acquisitions, and a bottom line turnaround
of $6m from loss making to sustainable
profitability. Will returned to the UK in 2004
after eight years in Australia. He joined Kellan
in March 2005 and in April 2005 he became
Chief Financial Officer.

6.

5. Michael Jackson (R, A)
Non-executive Director

6. James McHugh
Non-executive Director

Michael Jackson founded Elderstreet Investments
Limited in 1990 and is its executive chairman.
For the past 20 years, he has specialised in
raising finance and investing in the smaller
companies sector. Michael is chairman of
PartyGaming plc and until August 2006 was
chairman of FTSE100 company, The Sage
Group plc. He is also a director and investor
in many other quoted and unquoted companies,
including Netstore plc and Computer Software
Group plc. Mr Jackson studied law at Cambridge
University, and qualified as a chartered accountant
with Coopers & Lybrand before spending five
years in marketing for various US multinational
technology companies.

James McHugh founded K2 Partnering Solutions
(a specialist niche staffing company in the
Enterprise Resource Planning space) in 1997
and was its chief executive officer until 2007.
During this period the company grew globally
with offices established in London, Stuttgart,
Geneve, Boston and San Francisco, overseeing
in the US the successful acquisitions of Jotorok,
and most recently overseeing the opening
of a Tokyo office for the group. In 2008 the
group achieved annual revenues of $150m
(4% EBIT). James remains a board member
of K2’s holding company, Fionnoel AG (based
in Switzerland), and in 2008 his role changed
to director of strategic initiatives. In addition
to the above, James runs a semi-professional
sailing programme and keeps a base in Beijing
as well as Switzerland and the US.

R Remuneration Committee
A Audit Committee
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2228050

Accounts

Shareholder information
Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) details
The Company’s last AGM was held on
21 May 2009 in London. All three ordinary
resolutions and three special resolutions
listed in the annual report and accounts for
the twelve months ended 31 December 2008
were passed unanimously.

London Stock Exchange
The ordinary shares of the Company are traded
on AIM of the London Stock Exchange with
the code KLN.L.

Major shareholders (as at 1 February 2010)
A H Reeves
J P Bowmer
Gartmore Investment Limited
J McHugh
P A Bell
Bank of Scotland
Goldman Sachs
Rathbone Investment Management
Mercator Trustees

Amount

% holding

13,047,251
13,047,251
11,333,533
4,973,911
4,055,000
3,321,888
3,286,375
3,127,000
2,974,000

14.98
14.98
13.05
5.71
4.66
3.81
3.77
3.59
3.42

Website
The Group website can be found at
www.kellangroup.co.uk. This site is
regularly updated to provide information
about the Group. In particular, all of the
Group’s press releases and announcements
can be found on this site.

Financial calender
Next AGM 	Tuesday 18 May 2010 at 10.00am in the Group’s head office:
4th Floor, 27 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3BL
Next interim announcement

September 2010 (covering six months ended June 2010)

Next year end

31 December 2010

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Report of the directors
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009.
Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the period are set out on page 21 and show a loss for the period of £4,423,000 (2008: loss of £4,456,000).
The directors do not propose the payment of a dividend on the ordinary shares (2008: £nil).
Principal activities
Kellan Group plc (the “Group” or the “Company” or “Kellan”), is a market leading recruitment business operating across a wide range
of functional disciplines and industry sectors. The Company joined AIM in December 2004.
Business review
Please refer to pages 6 to 15 for the trading results and operational review of the business.
Monitoring, risk and KPIs
Please refer to pages 13 and 14.
Post balance sheet events
On 5 February 2010, the Company raised £1,000,000 before costs in the form of a convertible loan.
Future developments
Please refer to the business review on pages 6 to 12 for a review of future developments.
Going concern
The directors’ consideration of the appropriateness of the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements is set out in note 1
to the financial statements.
Corporate social responsibility
The Company has published its policies on employees, health and safety and the environment on the investor relations page of the
Group’s website. Please visit www.kellangroup.co.uk for details.
Corporate governance
The Company has published its policies on corporate governance on the investor relations page of the Group’s website. Please visit
www.kellangroup.co.uk for details.
Charitable and political contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable donations of £nil (2008: £750). There were no political contributions.
Employees
The Group has a policy of involving employees in its affairs where possible and creating the opportunity for senior members to explain
to employees matters which affect the Group’s performance. The Group practices equality of employment opportunities irrespective
of sex, race, creed or colour and recruits, trains and promotes on merit accordingly. Throughout the Group where practicable, opportunities
are taken to employ disabled people and to ensure that they take part in training and career development.
Directors
The directors of the Company during the period were as follows:
J P Bowmer – Co-Chairman
A H Reeves – Co-Chairman
J I Rose – Chief Executive Officer (resigned 6 February 2009)
R D Eades – Chief Executive Officer (appointed 22 July 2009)
W J Coker – Chief Financial Officer
M E Jackson – Non-executive Director
J McHugh - Non-executive Director (appointed 22 July 2009)
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Remuneration
Remuneration and benefits received during the twelve months ended 31 December 2009 were as follows:

Expiry date

25,000

—

— 1,741,727

0.400

27 January 2018

A H Reeves					

25,000

—

— 1,741,727

0.400

27 January 2018

M E Jackson					

17,500

—

—

870,863

0.400

27 January 2018

J McHugh					

—

—

8,225

—

—

—

J I Rose					

38,092

9,766

—

—

—

—

R D Eades					

165,727

19,969

— 1,000,000

0.050

20 April 2019

0.245
0.325
0.039

27 January 2018
9 September 2015
18 May 2012

W J Coker					 129,700
14,501
—
								
								

280,002
50,000
98,709

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected
to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the
European Union and the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. The directors are also required to
prepare financial statements in accordance with the rules of the London Stock Exchange for companies trading securities on AIM.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
	state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue
in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Website publication
The directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made available on a website. Financial
statements are published on the Company’s website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the
Company’s website is the responsibility of the directors. The directors’ responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial
statements contained therein.
Auditors
Each individual director has taken all the steps necessary to make themselves aware of any information needed by the Company’s
auditors for the purposes of their audit and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. The directors are not aware
of any relevant audit information to which the auditors are unaware.
BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the AGM.
On behalf of the Board

Will Coker
Chief Financial Officer
30 March 2010

www.kellangroup.co.uk
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Governance

J P Bowmer					

Business review
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Independent auditors’ report
To the members of Kellan Group plc

We have audited the financial statements of Kellan Group plc for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated statement of financial position and Company balance sheet, the Consolidated
statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in preparation of the parent Company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s (“APB’s”) Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors;
and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
	the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009
and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;
	the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;
	the parent company’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and
	the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Emphasis of matter – going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made
in note 1 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group is currently in breach
of the financial covenants contained in its borrowing agreement with its lender. The Group is in ongoing discussions with its lender
and has received a letter indicating that they expect, but cannot guarantee, to continue to provide the facilities. If the Group is unable
to agree amended terms, the lender could request early repayment of all outstanding borrowings. It is also expected that further funding
will be required to meet the Group’s working capital requirements. The directors are confident that sufficient additional funding will
be obtained as and when required although this cannot be guaranteed. These conditions, along with other matters disclosed in note 1,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The financial statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
	adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or
	the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
	certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
	we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

David Eagle (senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor
Epsom
United Kingdom
30 March 2010
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Revenue							

29,249

46,720

Cost of sales							

(16,599)

(23,908)

Gross profit/net fee income								

22,812

(17,094)

(26,817)

Operating (loss)/profit before impairment charge						

(4,444)

1,044

10

Operating loss							

2

Financial income							

5

44

77

Financial expenses							

5

(359)

(510)

Loss before tax							

3

(4,759)

(4,438)

Tax credit/(charge)							

6

Loss for the period								

—
(4,444)

336

(5,049)
(4,005)

(18)

(4,423)

(4,456)

(4,423)

(4,456)

(5.1)

(5.1)

Attributable to:			
Equity holders of the parent								
Loss per share in pence			
Basic and diluted							

7

The above results relate to continuing operations.
There are no adjustments between the loss for the year and the total comprehensive expense for the year or for the comparative year.
The notes on pages 25 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Impairment of goodwill							
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12,650

Administrative expenses							
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Note

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2009

									
									
								
Note

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment							

9

803

970

Intangible assets							

10

23,202

23,644

24,005

24,614

								
Current assets			
Trade and other receivables							

12

5,232

7,096

Cash and cash equivalents								

13

641

1,379

											
Total assets									

5,873

8,475

29,878

33,089

Current liabilities			
Loans and borrowings 							

14

4,871

767

Trade and other payables							

15

3,237

3,986

Other financial liabilities								

102

135

Corporation tax payable								

—

207

18

368

326

									

8,578

5,421

Provisions							

Non-current liabilities			
Loans and borrowings							

14

—

2,320

Provisions							

18

625

59

Deferred tax liabilities							

11

986

1,110

									

1,611

3,489

Total liabilities							

10,189

8,910

Net assets							

19,689

24,179

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent			
Share capital							

19

1,742

1,742

Share premium							

20

13,728

13,728

Merger reserve							

20

16,081

16,081

Capital redemption reserve							

20

2

2

Retained earnings								

(11,864)

(7,374)

Total equity								

19,689

24,179

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 30 March 2010 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ross Eades
Director
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009

								
					
Share
Share
Merger
					
capital
premium
reserve
				
Note
£000
£000
£000

Capital		
redemption
Retained
reserve
earnings
£000
£000

Total
equity
£000

16,081

2

(3,050)

28,515

Loss for the period				

—

—

—

—

(4,456)

(4,456)

Total comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2008				

—

—

—

—

(4,456)

(4,456)

Share issue costs				

—

(12)

—

—

—

(12)

Share-based payment charge				

—

—

—

—

132

132

Balance at 31 December 2008				

1,742

13,728

16,081

2

(7,374)

24,179

Loss for the period 				

—

—

—

—

(4,423)

(4,423)

Total comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2009				

—

—

—

—

(4,423)

(4,423)

Share-based payment credit			

17

—

—

—

—

(67)

(67)

Balance at 31 December 2009				

1,742

13,728

16,081

2

(11,864)

19,689
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13,740
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1,742
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Balance at 31 December 2007				

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2009

							
									
									
								
								
Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

		

Loss for the period								

(4,423)

(4,456)

Adjustments for:			
Depreciation and amortisation								

886

867

Interest income								

(10)

(77)

Interest paid							

286

339

Amortisation of loan costs								

73

73

Net (gain)/loss on measurement of interest rate swap to fair value						

(34)

98

95

37

—

5,049

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment						
Impairment of goodwill								
Equity-settled share-based payment (credit)/expenses						

(67)

132

Non-cash taxation (credit)/charge							

(336)

18

									

(3,530)

2,080

Decrease in trade and other receivables								

1,865

3,349

Decrease in trade and other payables								

(749)

(2,200)

Adjustment to goodwill for pre-acquisition accruals not required						

—

272

Increase in provisions								

608

140

								

(1,806)

Tax received/(paid)								
Net cash (outflow)/ inflow from operating activities						

5
(1,801)

3,641
(189)
3,452

Cash flows from investing activities			
Interest received								

10

77

9

(372)

(599)

Net cash outflow from investing activities 							

(362)

(522)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment						

Cash flows from financing activities

		

Share issue costs								
Drawdown/(repayment) of invoice discounting facility balances					

—

(12)

2,551

(979)

Interest paid							

(286)

(339)

Repayment of term loan borrowings								

(840)

(840)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities						

1,425

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents							
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period					
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period					
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(738)

(2,170)
760

1,379

619

641

1,379
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Notes to the financial statements
(forming part of the financial statements)

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The parent
company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.
The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as endorsed for use by the EU (“Adopted IFRS”). The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements
in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 40 to 43.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Accounts

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008 highlighted that due to the recent decline in the UK recruitment market, the Group
expected to breach some of the financial covenants contained in its borrowing agreement with its lender during the first half of 2009.
Covenants on these borrowings, which comprise a term loan taken out to acquire Quantica Plc in September 2007 and an invoice discounting
facility used for working capital, are tested quarterly using the twelve month period to the date of the respective test. As predicted,
some of the covenants have been breached during the current period. The facilities themselves have not been breached.
The Group’s lender continues to be supportive. Positive discussions around future banking terms and the Group’s existing and projected
working capital requirements are ongoing. However, if the Group is unable to agree amended terms the lender could request early
repayment of all outstanding borrowings.
At an EGM of the Company on 18 January 2010 resolutions to remove authorised share capital restrictions as well as grant the directors
authority to allot new shares and to disapply statutory pre-emption rights (in respect of such an allotment) were passed. Consequent
to the resolutions above, on 5 February 2010, the Group raised £1m before approximate expenses of £40,000, via the issue of a convertible
loan note, with warrants attached, to eight existing shareholders. The funds were used to strengthen the Group’s balance sheet and
to enable it to continue to meet repayment obligations on the Group’s outstanding long-term debt whilst also maintaining sufficient
working capital for day-to-day requirements. However it is expected that further funding will be required to meet the Group’s working
capital requirements in the foreseeable future. The directors are confident that sufficient additional funding will be obtained as and
when required although this cannot be guaranteed.
Having assessed the position of the bank and the ability to obtain additional funding, the directors consider that there is a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future. It is on this basis that the directors
consider it appropriate to prepare the Group’s financial statements on a going concern basis.
However for the reasons described above, the directors recognise that there are material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. These material uncertainties comprise the ongoing availability of the existing facilities given the covenant
breaches and the ability to obtain additional funding from alternative sources. The financial statements do not include the adjustments
that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.
Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments that are stated at fair value.
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is charged
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.
Land is not depreciated. The annual rates used are generally:
	motor vehicles and computer equipment		

25%

	office equipment					

10% – 33%

	short leasehold premises and improvements

over the duration of the lease
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The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Group
financial statements. The accounting policies have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Business review

1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
Kellan Group plc (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the UK.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

1 Accounting policies continued
Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Subject to the transitional relief in IFRS 1, all business combinations
are accounted for by applying the purchase method. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 October 2005,
goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. Identifiable
intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights are separable.
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) and is not
amortised but is tested annually for impairment.
IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRS in the transition period. The Group and Company elected
not to restate business combinations that took place prior to 1 October 2005. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 October 2005, goodwill
is included at 1 October 2005 on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the carrying value recorded under UK GAAP which
was broadly comparable save that no intangibles were recognised and goodwill was amortised.
Externally acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised on business combinations if they are separable from the acquired entity or give rise to other contractual/
legal rights. The amounts ascribed to such intangibles are arrived at by using appropriate valuation techniques (see section related to
critical estimates and judgements on pages 28 to 29).
Amortisation is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than
goodwill, from the date that they are available for use.
The significant intangibles recognised by the Group, their useful economic lives and the methods used to determine the cost of intangibles
acquired in a business combination are as follows:
Intangible asset
Brand name
Customer relations

Useful economic life
Ten years
Ten years

Valuation method
Relief from royalty method
Mean extended excess method

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances on current accounts, cash balances on invoice discounting facilities and call deposits.
Impairment excluding deferred tax assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount
is estimated at each balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to CGUs and
then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free rate.
Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.
Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is
due only to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.
The Group and Company took advantage of the option available in IFRS 1 to apply IFRS 2 only to equity instruments that were granted
after 7 November 2002 and that had not vested by 1 October 2005.
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	revenue from temporary placements, which represents amounts billed for the services of temporary staff including the salary cost
of these staff. This is recognised when the service has been provided;
	revenue for permanent placements, which is based on a percentage of the candidate’s remuneration package, is recognised at the
date an offer is accepted by a candidate and where a start date has been determined. An adjustment is made for possible cancellations
of placements prior to, or shortly after, the commencement of employment based on the Group’s experience of such an event occurring; and

Governance

	revenue from amounts billed to clients for expenses incurred on their behalf (principally advertisements) is recognised when the
expense is incurred.
Expenses
Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill;
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount
of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised.
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)” and
“loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. The Group does not hold any “held-to-maturity” investments or “available-for-sale” financial assets. The Group’s
accounting policy for each category is as follows:
Financial assets at FVTPL
This category comprises only in-the-money interest rate derivatives (see financial liabilities section for out-of-the-money derivatives).
They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the Consolidated income statement in the
finance income or expense line. The Group does not have any assets held for trading nor does it voluntarily classify any financial assets
as being at FVTPL.
The fair value of the Group’s interest rate swap derivatives are determined using valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly
affected by the assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of future cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair value
estimates cannot always be substantiated by comparison with independent markets and, in many cases, may not be capable of being
realised immediately.
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and
receivables. They are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost less any provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. This provision represents the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits at call with banks, bank overdrafts and unpresented cheques. Bank overdrafts
where there is no right of set-off are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements. Financial liabilities are classified as either FVTPL or “other financial liabilities”.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
This category comprises only out-of-the-money interest rate derivatives. They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with subsequent
movements in fair value taken to the income statement in the finance income or expense line. Other than these derivative financial
instruments, the Group does not have any liabilities held for trading nor has it designated any financial liabilities as being at FVTPL.
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Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
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1 Accounting policies continued
Revenue and income recognition
Revenue, which excludes value added tax (“VAT”), constitutes the value of services undertaken by the Group as its principal activities,
which are recruitment consultancy and other ancillary services. These consist of:

Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

1 Accounting policies continued
Financial liabilities and equity instruments continued
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are recognised on the trade date of the related transactions. Trade payables are not interest-bearing
and are stated at the amount payable which is fair value on initial recognition.
Interest-bearing loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of direct issue costs incurred, and are subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Adoption of new and revised standards
Standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted
The International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee have issued the
following standards and amendments to standards to be applied to financial statements with periods commencing on or after the
following dates:
International Accounting Standards (“IAS/IFRS”) 									 Effective date

IAS 19*
IAS 24*
IAS 32*
IFRS*
IFRS 1*
		
IFRS 3*
IAS 27*
Ias 39*
IFRS 1*
Ifrs 2*
Ifrs 9*

Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction			
Related Party Disclosures								
Classification of Rights Issues 								
Improvements to IFRS – Various Clarifications and Elimination of Inconsistencies			
First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards –
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters
					
Business Combinations Accounting (Revised)						
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amendment)					
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items (Amendment)		
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (Revised)					
Group Cash-settled Share-based Payments Transactions
				
Financial Instruments								

1 January 2011
1 January 2011
1 February 2010
1 January 2010
1 July 2010
1 July 2009
1 July 2009
1 July 2009
1 July 2009
1 January 2010
1 January 2013

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)								 Effective date

IFRIC 19*
IFRIC 17*
IFRIC 18*
IFRIC 14*

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments					
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners						
Transfer of Assets from Customers							
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction			

1 April 2010
1 July 2009
1 July 2009
1 January 2011

* These standards and interpretations are not endorsed by the EU at present.

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements
in the period of initial application.
Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included below:
(a) Impairment of goodwill
The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount is determined
based on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows and the choice of a discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows. Actual outcomes may vary. More information including carrying values
is included in note 10.
(b) Useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are amortised or depreciated over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on the
management’s estimates of the period that the assets will generate revenue, which are periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness.
Changes to estimates can result in significant variations in the carrying value and amounts charged to the Consolidated income statement
in specific periods. More details including carrying values are included in notes 9 and 10.
(c) Share-based payments
Employee services received, and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. The fair value of share options is estimated by using
the Black-Scholes valuation model on the date of grant based on certain assumptions. Those assumptions are described in note 17
and include, among others, the dividend growth rate, expected volatility, expected life of the options and number of options expected
to vest. More details including carrying values are disclosed in note 17. The charge also depends on estimates of the number of options
that will ultimately vest based on the satisfaction of non-market vesting conditions.
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(g) Onerous leases and dilapidations
Inherent uncertainties in measuring the provision are the estimated cost of returning the properties to their original state at the end
of the lease and estimates of rents that will be received in the future on vacant property.
(h) Revenue recognition
In determining revenue for permanent placements, an adjustment is made for possible cancellations of placements prior to, or shortly
after, the commencement of employment applying an estimate based on the Group’s experience of such an event occurring.
2 Reconciliation of operating loss to adjusted EBITDA and EBITA

										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Operating loss as per accounts 							
Add back:			
Impairment of goodwill									
Amortisation of intangible assets							
Share-based payments (credit)/charge 								
Onerous leases 										
Restructuring costs 										

(4,444)

(4,005)

—
442
(67)
945
913

5,049
442
132
185
415

Adjusted EBITA									
Depreciation										

(2,211)
444

2,218
425

Adjusted EBITDA 										

(1,767)

2,643

3 Expenses and auditors’ remuneration
Included in loss before tax is the following:
										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Pension contributions									
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment							
Impairment of goodwill									
Amortisation of intangible assets (charged to administration expenses)					
Operating leases rentals – hire of plant and machinery							
Operating leases rentals – hire of other assets						
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment							

164
444
—
442
95
1,183
95

168
425
5,049
442
122
1,339
37
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(f) Derivative instruments
The fair value of the Group’s interest rate swap derivatives are determined using valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly
affected by the assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of future cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair value
estimates cannot always be substantiated by comparison with independent markets and, in many cases, may not be capable of being
realised immediately.

Governance

(e) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income tax and significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. During the
ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. As a result,
the Group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will be due. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgements about future events. To the extent that the final tax
outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will impact income tax expense in the period in
which such determination is made.

Business review

1 Accounting policies continued
Use of estimates and judgements continued
(d) Determination of fair values of intangible assets acquired in business combinations
The fair value of brand names is based on the discounted estimated royalty payments that would have been avoided as a result of the
brand name being used. The fair value of customer relations is based on the discounted mean extended excess future cash flows from
existing customers. These methods require the estimation of future cash flows, the choice of a suitable royalty and discount rates in order
to calculate the fair values.

Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

3 Expenses and auditors’ remuneration continued
Auditors’ remuneration
Amounts payable to BDO LLP in respect of both audit and non-audit services are set out below:
										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Fees payable to the auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts					

20

20

Fees payable to the auditors for other services:		
– the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries							
– other services relating to taxation								
– other non-audit services									

53
24
2

82
42
3

											

79

127

		

4 Staff numbers and costs
The weighted average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the period, analysed by category, was as follows:
										

Number of employees

											

2009

2008

Recruitment										
Administrative staff										
Temporary workers (whose costs are included in cost of sales and services charged within revenue) 			

160
64
1,162

281
81
1,318

										

1,386

1,680

										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Wages and salaries										
Social security costs									
Other pension costs										

16,411
1,481
164

18,889
1,758
168

										
Share-based payments (see note 17)							

18,056
(67)

20,815
132

											

17,989

20,947

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Directors’ and key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Group. During the period these were considered to be the directors of the Company.
										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Emoluments										
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes						
Share-based payments (see note 17)								

402
33
(92)

427
31
97

											

343

555

There were three directors in defined contribution pension schemes during the period (2008: two).
The total amount payable to the highest paid director in respect of emoluments was £170,227 (2008: £219,460). Company pension
contributions of £15,469 (2008: £19,000) were made to a money purchase scheme on his behalf.
The share-based payments charge for the year was a net credit, consequential to the departure of one director and the reversal of previously
booked share-based payment charges in respect of options that would never vest.
The directors made no gains on options exercised during the current or prior periods.
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5 Finance income and expense

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Interest income on financial assets 								
Net profit on measurement of interest rate collar to fair value						

10
34

77
—

Financial income									

339
73
98

Financial expenses										

359

510

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

6 Taxation
Recognised in the income statement

										
											
											
											
											

Current tax (credit)/expense			
Current period										
Adjustments for prior periods									

—
(212)

145
—

											
Deferred tax credit 		
Origination and reversal of temporary differences							

(212)

145

(124)

(127)

											

(124)

(127)

Total tax (credit)/expense in income statement							

(336)

18

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

										
											
											
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Loss before tax for the period								
Total tax credit/(expense)								

(4,759)
336

(4,438)
(18)

Loss after tax									

(4,423)

(4,456)

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%)					
Non-deductible expenses including impairment						
Losses carried forward									
Utilised brought forward losses								
Prior year provision release									
Other short-term timing differences								
Movement on other deferred tax assets not recognised						

(1,333)
67
1,166
(24)
(212)
14
(14)

(1,265)
1,723
—
(190)
—
—
(250)

Total tax (credit)/expense									

(336)

18

7 Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2009 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of £4,423,000
(2008: loss of £4,456,000) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 87,086,336 (2008: 87,086,336), calculated
as follows:
Weighted average number of shares							

2009

2008

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January						
Effect of shares issued							

87,086,336
—

87,086,336
—

Weighted average number of shares at end of period				

87,086,336

87,086,336

Loss for the year								

(4,423,000)

(4,456,000)

Basic and diluted loss per share in pence						

(5.1)

(5.1)

Adjusted basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share in pence 			

(5.1)

0.7

(1)

(1) A
 djusted earnings per share is after eliminating the impairment of goodwill in the prior year of £5,049,000. There is no dilution of the adjusted earnings per share in the current
period due to the Group’s losses and in the prior period due to the options being “underwater”.

There was no dilution in the current and prior period due to the loss in the period.
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77

286
73
—
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44

Interest expense on financial liabilities 								
Amortisation of loan costs									
Net loss on measurement of interest rate collar to fair value						

Business review

										
											
											
											
											

Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

8 Operating segments
Operating segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
The Group identifies its reportable operating segments by divisions, each of which is run by a divisional managing director. Each identifiable
business division operates in a different market of recruitment, has its own brand, engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, discrete financial information is readily available and its operating results are regularly reviewed by the
Chief Executive Officer. Operating segment results are reviewed to controllable contribution level which is gross profit less employee
costs and marketing costs directly controlled by the managing director of that division. All other costs are controlled at Group level and
are disclosed as Kellan central costs, which for the purposes of internal reporting in 2009 was a non-profit making centralised Group
cost function.
Each division derives its revenues from supplying one or more of contingent permanent, contract, temporary and retained search
recruitment services. The RK Search and Robinson Keane divisions have been aggregated as they individually fall under the threshold
for separate disclosure and have similar economic characteristics.
Transactions with the Group’s largest customer do not account for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues and the Group’s revenues
attributed to foreign countries are immaterial for the purpose of segmental reporting.
Assets and liabilities are reviewed at a Group level and are not reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer on a segmental basis.
			
Operating segment			

2009
£000

2008
£000

4,232
2,822

4,982
3,829

919

931

6,222
918

11,955
1,983

415

1,023

8,168
3,294

13,905
7,610

Controllable contribution		

946

3,424

Revenue
Net Fee Income		

6,327
3,138

10,033
5,525

Controllable contribution		

1,230

2,681

Revenue		
Net Fee Income		

2,286
1,244

2,948
2,113

180

621

2,014
1,234

2,897
1,752

264

488

Revenue
Net Fee Income
Quantica Search & Selection

Controllable contribution		
Revenue
Net Fee Income

Quantica Technology

Controllable contribution		
Revenue
Net Fee Income

Berkeley Scott

RK Accountancy

RK Supply Chain

Controllable contribution

RK Search and
Robinson Keane

Revenue
Net Fee Income		

(aggregated)

Controllable contribution

Kellan central costs

Other costs

(5,721)

(6,525)

Revenue
Net Fee Income
Controllable contribution				
Other costs		

29,249
12,650
3,954
(5,721)

46,720
22,812
9,168
(6,525)

Adjusted Ebitda

(1,767)

2,643

		
Kellan Group Total

					

The total of the reportable segments’ adjusted Ebitda for the year agrees to the reconciliation to Group operating loss (see note 2).
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9 Property, plant and equipment

Computer
and office
equipment
£000

Total
£000

517
246
(98)

2,730
353
(488)

3,247
599
(586)

Balance at 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009						
Additions									
Disposals									

665
270
(186)

2,595
102
(188)

3,260
372
(374)

749

2,509

3,258

275
115
(88)

2,139
310
(461)

2,414
425
(549)

Balance at 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009						
Depreciation charge for the period							
Disposals									

302
161
(118)

1,988
283
(161)

2,290
444
(279)

Balance at 31 December 2009 						

345

2,110

2,455

Net book value			
At 31 December 2007								

242

591

833

At 31 December 2008								

363

607

970

At 31 December 2009								

404

399

803

Brand
name
£000

Customer
relations
£000

Total
£000

10 Intangible assets

										
									
Goodwill
									
£000

Cost					
Balance at 1 January 2008							
Adjustment to fair value							

24,989
(272)

922
—

3,609
—

29,520
(272)

Balance at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 				

24,717

922

3,609

29,248

Amortisation and impairment 				
Balance at 1 January 2008							
Impairment of goodwill							
Amortisation								

—
5,049
—

23
—
90

90
—
352

113
5,049
442

Balance at 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009
				
Amortisation								

5,049
—

113
90

442
352

5,604
442

Balance at 31 December 2009 					

5,049

203

794

6,046

Net book value					
At at 31 December 2007							

24,989

899

3,519

29,407

At at 31 December 2008							

19,668

809

3,167

23,644

At 31 December 2009							

19,668

719

2,815

23,202

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Berkeley Scott Regional (Former Gold Helm Roche) branch network					
Berkeley Scott London (Former Sherwoods) branch network 					
RK Group									
Quantica Technology									
Quantica Search & Selection								
Other									

1,920
569
10,482
3,202
3,466
29

1,920
569
10,482
3,202
3,466
29

										

19,668

19,668

Goodwill

The recoverable amount of all the CGUs is based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on 2009 actual performance.
An appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity calculation is then generated. The key assumptions used in the impairment testing
were the cash flows and discount rates.
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Balance at 31 December 2009 							
Depreciation and impairment 		
Balance at 1 January 2008								
Depreciation charge for the period							
Disposals									

Governance

Cost			
Balance at 1 January 2008								
Additions									
Disposals									

Business review

										Short leasehold
										 premises and
										 improvements
										
£000

Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

10 Intangible assets continued
Cash flows
Cash flows are based on a controllable contributions of each CGU remaining at 2009 levels in 2010, with a return to 2008 levels in 2011.
These levels have been assumed to remain flat to 2014 with an annual 2% growth rate assumed thereafter. An allocation of shared
overheads has been applied to the cash flows of each individual CGU.
Discount rate
A discount rate of 14.0% (2008: 14.8%) reflects management’s current estimate of the pre-tax cost of capital of the Group and is applied
to each of the CGUs listed above.
Sensitivity testing
It would require an increase in the discount rate of 1.6% before any CGU would indicate an impairment.
A sensitivity has been applied to the cash flows whereby 2008 levels are predicted to return only in 2014 with straight-line growth
in the intervening periods. The application of this sensitivity to each CGU did not give rise to any impairment.
Goodwill impairment
Further impairment of goodwill has been considered in the current period but none has been booked. The impairment in the prior period
of £5,049,000 related to Quantica Technology of £2,847,000 and Quantica Search & Selection of £2,202,000. The directors believe that
the assumptions used in testing impairment at 31 December 2009 are still valid and have not materially changed. These assumptions
will continue to be reassessed on a six monthly basis.
11 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax liabilities
Recognised deferred tax liabilities are at present attributable to unamortised fair value adjustments on business combinations.
The movement on the accounts is as follows:
											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Balance at 1 January 2009									
Credited to the income statement								

1,110
(124)

1,237
(127)

Balance at 31 December 2009 								

986

1,110

At 31 December 2009 the amount of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits for which no deferred
tax asset is recognised are as follows:
											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Trading losses carried forward 								
Capital losses carried forward									
Decelerated capital allowances									
Other temporary and deductible differences						

4,243
561
693
275

168
561
400
618

											

5,772

1,747

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Trade receivables 									
Other receivables 										
Prepayments and accrued income 							

3,879
175
1,178

5,532
409
1,155

										

5,232

7,096

12 Trade and other receivables

An analysis of the allowance against accounts receivable and details of trade receivables past due and not impaired is included in note 16.
13 Cash and cash equivalents

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Cash and cash equivalents 									

641

1,379
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14 Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The carrying value and face value of loans and borrowings are as follows:
31 December
2008
£000

Non-current liabilities		
Secured bank loans										

—

2,320

Current liabilities
Current portion of secured bank loans								
Invoice discounting facility								

2,320
2,551

767
—

											

4,871

767

Terms and debt repayment schedule

									
								
Face value
								 31 December
						
Nominal
Year of
2009
					
Currency
interest rate
maturity
£000

Sterling

4% above LIBOR

2012

2,520

2,320

3,360

3,087

									

2,520

2,320

3,360

3,087

The five year term loan of £2,520,000 (2008: £3,360,000) and invoice discounting facility balance utilised of £2,551,000 (2008: £nil) are
secured through deeds of composite guarantees and mortgage debentures on Group companies. The Group makes use of an interest
rate collar swap on two-thirds of the sum of the term loan. The collar is based on LIBOR and has a lower threshold of 5.51% plus 4.00%
margin and an upper threshold of 6.50% plus 4.00% margin. The invoice discounting facility has an interest rate of 3.00% above Barclay’s
base rate.
15 Trade and other payables

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Trade payables 										
Social security and other taxes									
Other creditors										
Accruals and deferred income								

386
823
374
1,654

446
1,364
627
1,549

										

3,237

3,986

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within 45 day terms.
16 Financial instruments
Financial risk management
The Group is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:
	liquidity risk;
	interest rate risk;
	credit risk; and
	foreign currency risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is managed centrally on a Group basis. The Group’s policy in respect of liquidity risk is to maintain a mixture of long-term and
short-term debt finance, including an invoice discounting facility, to ensure the Group has sufficient funds for operations for the foreseeable
future. Budgets and forecasts are agreed and set by the Board in advance to enable the Group’s cash requirements to be anticipated.
Interest rate risk
Debt is maintained at bank variable rates which inherently bring interest rate risk and the Group makes use of interest rate collar swaps
to achieve the desired interest rate profile. The Group maintains detailed cash flow forecasts enabling it to factor incremental changes
in interest rates into its risk profile and liquidity and react accordingly.
Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash and trade and other receivables. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade receivables.
The Group’s policy in respect of trade receivables credit risk requires appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are
made, the appropriate limiting of credit to each customer and the close monitoring of KPI trending such as days’ sales outstanding and
debtor ageing. The Group records impairment losses on its trade receivables separately from the gross receivable and calculates the
allowance based on evidence of its likely recovery. At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The Group’s credit risk on liquid funds is limited due to the Group’s policy of monitoring counterparty exposures and only transacting
with high credit-quality financial institutions.
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Bank loan (Barclays)				

Carrying		
Carrying
amount
Face value
amount
31 December 31 December 31 December
2009
2008
2008
£000
£000
£000

Governance

31 December
2009
£000
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16 Financial instruments continued
Foreign currency risk
The Group’s foreign currency denominated activity is not significant and the impact of foreign exchange movements on reported
profits, net assets and gearing are not significant. The day-to-day transactions of overseas branches are carried out in local currency
and Group exposure to currency risk at a transactional level is minimal.
The Group does not enter into speculative treasury arrangements and there are no significant balances or exposures denominated
in foreign currencies.
Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going concern whilst maximising
optimising the debt and equity balance.
In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its ability to provide a return for its equity shareholders through capital
growth. In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to maintain a gearing ratio that balances risks and returns at an acceptable
level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working capital and strategic investment needs.
In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to achieve these aims, the Group considers not only its short-term position but also its
long-term operational and strategic objectives. The Group’s gearing profile, being the face value of loans and borrowings of £5,071,000
(2008: £3,360,000) as a percentage of total equity £19,689,000 (2008: £24,179,000), worsened to 25.8% from 13.9%.
Trade receivables impairment
Movement on trade receivables impairment provision:
											
										

2009
£000

2008
£000

Provision brought forward								
Decrease in provision									

348
(142)

416
(68)

206

348

Provision carried forward at year end							

The trade receivables past due and not impaired at the balance sheet date amounted to £2,274,000 (2008: £2,912,000) and comprised
£1,809,000 (2008: £2,479,000) overdue by up to 30 days, £320,000 (2008: £326,000) overdue by 30 to 60 days and £145,000 (2008: £107,000)
overdue by more than 60 days.
The directors consider that all other receivables are fully recoverable.
Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
The financial assets of the Group comprised:
										
											
										

Loans and receivables
2009
£000

2008
£000

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables								
Net cash and cash equivalents								

4,054
641

5,941
1,379

Total financial assets								

4,695

7,320

Financial liabilities
The financial liabilities of the Group comprised:
										 Measured at amortised cost
											
										

2009
£000

2008
£000

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables									
Loans and borrowings								

3,237
4,871

3,986
767

Total current financial liabilities 							

8,108

4,753

—

2,320

8,108

7,073

Non-current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings									
Total financial liabilities								

Bank loans and invoice discounting balances amounting to £4,871,000 (2008: £3,360,000) are secured by cross guarantees and mortgage
debentures on certain Group companies.
In addition to the above financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the carrying value of derivatives which are classified as fair
value through profit and loss is £102,000 (2008: £135,000). The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.
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2009		

			
			
			

0 to
<1 years
£000

		

1 to
<2 years
£000

2 to
<5 years
£000

2008

Effective		
interest
Total
rate
£000

0 to
<1 years
£000

1 to
<2 years
£000

2 to
<5 years
£000

0.1%
7.8%
n/a
3.5%

641
(2,320)
(102)
(2,551)

641
(2,320)
(102)
(2,551)

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

0.1%
5.9%
n/a
0%

1,379
(3,087)
(135)
—

1,379
(767)
(135)
—

—
(767)
—
—

—
(1,553)
—
—

				

(4,332)

(4,332)

—

—		

(1,843)

477

(767)

(1,553)

The above table is based on the balances at the balance sheet date. The effect of future interest cash flows can be determined from
the above effective interest rates which are subject to change.

17 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total expense relating to these plans in the current period
was £164,463 (2008: £167,660). Pension contributions totalling £3,700 (2008: £7,641) were outstanding at the period end.
Share-based payments
Approved and unapproved share schemes
The Group has 5 share option schemes in existence:
1999 Unapproved Scheme – 1,575 options remain unexercised at 31 December 2009
The scheme is no longer used to grant new options and all residual options in existence have vested.
2004 Approved EMI Scheme – 76,688 options remain unexercised at 31 December 2009
The ability of a company to utilise EMI options is governed by conditions, including those of size, that are prescribed by HMRC.
Following the acquisition of Quantica Plc in September 2007 the Group became too large to grant EMI options and any subsequent
grants were made within the rules of alternative schemes. The reduction in headcount and net assets of the Group in 2009 may result
in the Group becoming once more eligible to grant EMI options and if such a situation eventuates, the Group would utilise the existing
2004 scheme to conduct such a grant.
2008 Unapproved Non-executive Directors’ Scheme – 4,354,317 options remain unexercised at 31 December 2009
This scheme was established in 2008 as non-executive directors are ineligible to participate in an all employee scheme. Vesting criteria
are purely share price related.
2008 Unapproved All Employee Scheme – 2,805,014 options remain unexercised at 31 December 2009
The scheme was established in 2008 for employees of the Group and is currently the main vehicle by which options are granted unless
the Group’s EMI scheme becomes available for re-use. Options granted to management under this scheme have vesting criteria including
length of service, minimum trading performance levels and conditions related to the share price of the Group. There were 145,001 exercisable
options in this scheme at the year end. However, their strike price was in excess of the Group’s share price at that time, deeming them
“underwater”. All options granted have a contract life of ten years.
2009 SAYE Scheme – 4,429,100 options remain unexercised at 31 December 2009
The scheme was established in 2009 offering all employees the opportunity to purchase shares. 116 employees took up the initial offer.
Vesting conditions are purely length of service related with all options vesting and exercisable after three years. At 31 December 2009,
there were 86 employees in the scheme.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options and warrants are as follows:
					
						
						
						
						
						

31 December 2009

31 December 2008

Weighted		
average
exercise 		
price
Number
£
of options

Outstanding at the beginning of the period			
Options granted during the period			
Options exercised during the period			
Options lapsed during the period			

0.37
0.03
—
0.26

Outstanding at the end of the period			
Exercisable at the end of the period			

8,168,289
6,707,659
—
(3,209,254)

Weighted
average
exercise
price
£

Number
of options

0.54
0.24
—
0.32

1,445,582
7,204,341
—
(481,634)

0.20		11,666,694

0.37

8,168,289

0.39

0.52

352,231

4,577,581

The exercise price of options outstanding at the end of the period ranged between £0.03 and £0.99 (2008: £0.15 and £0.99) and their
weighted residual contractual life was nine years (2008: nine years). There were no options exercised during the current or prior period.
The weighted average fair value of each option granted during the period was £0.026 (2008: £0.027).
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Following the breach of covenants in the year, the lender could request immediate repayment of all outstanding borrowing and consequently
all borrowing at the current period end is recorded as being due within one year. In agreement with its lender the Group continues to
make repayments on its bank loan in line with the original repayments schedule which runs to 2012.

Governance

Cash and
cash equivalents		
Bank loans		
Derivative collar		
Invoice discounting		

Effective		
interest
Total
rate
£000

Business review

16 Financial instruments continued
Effective interest rates and repricing analysis – Group
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest
rates at the balance sheet date and the periods in which they mature or, if earlier, are repriced:

Notes to the financial statements continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

17 Employee benefits continued
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs and assumptions on options
granted during the period are as follows:
										
											

31 December
2009

31 December
2008

Fair value at measurement date								
£176,287
Weighted average share price								
£0.04
Weighted average exercise price								
£0.03
Expected volatility 									
90%
Expected option life (years)									
3.5
Expected dividends 									
0%
Risk-free interest rate 								
2.5%

£195,781
£0.24
£0.34
40%
1.4
0%
5%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options).
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.
The total income recognised for the period arising from share-based payments was £67,000 (2008: expense of £132,000).
18 Provisions

												
Onerous
												 contracts and
												 dilapidations
												
£000

Balance at 1 January 2009										
Provisions made during the period									
Provisions used during the period									

385
1,133
(525)

Balance at 31 December 2009 									

993

Non-current at 31 December 2008									
Current at 31 December 2008										

59
326

												

385

Non-current at 31 December 2009									
Current at 31 December 2009										

625
368

												

993

Onerous contracts and dilapidations predominantly relate to the costs payable on properties which have been vacated and incremental
costs that will be incurred on exiting existing properties where a commitment to do so exists at the balance sheet date.
19 Capital
Share capital

										
											
In thousands of shares
									

Ordinary shares
31 December
2009

31 December
2008

87,086

87,086

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Authorised		
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each								

2,895

2,895

Allotted, called up and fully paid		
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each								

1,742

1,742

In issue at 1 January and 31 December – fully paid						
											
											
											

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company.
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20 Reserves
Share premium
The share premium account represents the excess of the proceeds from the issue of shares over the nominal value of shares issued
less related issue costs.
Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the excess of the fair value of shares issued on acquisition over the nominal value of shares issued
where merger relief for the purposes of the Companies Act legislation applies.
Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve relates to the cancellation of the Company’s own shares.

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Less than one year										
Between one and five years									
More than five years									

1,307
3,286
41

1,168
2,107
78

											

4,634

3,353

During the period £1,277,930 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases (2008: £1,461,000),
excluding amounts charged in respect of onerous contracts.
22 Post balance sheet events
At an EGM of the Company on 18 January 2010 resolutions to remove authorised share capital restrictions as well as grant the
directors authority to allot new shares and to disapply statutory pre-emption rights (in respect of such an allotment) were passed.
Consequentially to the resolutions above, on 5 February 2010, the Group raised £1m before approximate expenses of £40,000,
via the issue of a convertible loan note, with warrants attached, to eight existing shareholders.
The funds were used to strengthen the Group’s balance sheet and to enable it to continue to meet repayment obligations on the
Group’s outstanding long-term debt whilst also maintaining sufficient working capital for day-to-day requirements.
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21 Operating leases
The total future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Company balance sheet
at 31 December 2009

								
						

31 December 2009
Note

£000

31 December 2008
£000

£000

£000

Fixed assets						
Property, plant and equipment					

25

Investments					

26		

							

404		

196

30,972		

30,972

31,376		

31,168

Current assets						
Debtors – due within one year					

27

662		

349

Debtors – due after more than one year					

27

3,404		

4,513

Cash at bank and in hand						

239		

—

							

4,305		

4,862

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 						
Loans and borrowings					

29

2,320		

975

Trade and other payables					

28

1,536		

682

Amounts owed to Group undertakings					

1,380

3,500

							

5,236		

5,157

Net current liabilities					

		

Total assets less current liabilities					

		

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year

(931)

(295)

30,445		

30,873

					

Loans and borrowings					

29		

— 		

2,320

Provisions					

30		

993		

385

29,452		

28,168

Net assets 						
						

Capital and reserves						
Called up share capital					

31		

1,742		

1,742

Share premium account					

32		

13,728		

13,728

Merger reserve					

32

16,081		

16,081

Capital redemption reserve					

32		

2		

2

Profit and loss account					

32

(2,101)		

(3,385)

Shareholders’ funds 						

29,452		

28,168

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 30 March 2010 and were signed on its behalf by:

Ross Eades
Director
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23 Accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in the
Company financial statements and are in accordance with applicable accounting standards.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, and under the historical cost
accounting rules.
Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account.
The Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period includes a profit after tax and dividends of £1,350,880 (2008: loss
of £2,432,000) which is dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company.
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As these financial statements are presented together with the Consolidated financial statements, the Company has taken advantage
of the exception in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or balances with entities which form part of the Group.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as set out in note 1.
Turnover
Turnover represents amounts receivable for goods and services net of VAT and trade discounts.
Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is recognised
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled
to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the liability
are recognised as a personnel expense in profit or loss.
The Company took advantage of the option to apply FRS 20 only to equity instruments that were granted after 7 November 2002
and that had not vested by 1 October 2005.
Deferred taxation
Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date
except that the recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that the Company anticipates making sufficient taxable profits
in the future to absorb the reversal of the underlying timing differences.
Deferred tax balances are not discounted.
Pension costs
The Group makes contributions to money purchase pension schemes of certain staff and directors. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. Contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in
the period in which they are payable.
Finance costs
Finance costs associated with the issue of debt are carried forward and charged to profit over the term of the debt so that the amount
charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
Financial instruments
Financial instruments are measured initially and subsequently at cost. Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the
substance of the financial instruments’ contractual obligations rather than the financial instruments’ legal form.
24 Staff numbers and costs
The only employees of the Company at the period end were five (2008: four) directors and 28 (2008: 34) Group employees. The aggregate
payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
										
											
										
											
											

Year
ended
31 December
2009
£000

Year
ended
31 December
2008
£000

Wages and salaries										
Social security costs									
Other pension costs									

1,865
196
59

1,250
135
53

										

2,120

1,438
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Details of directors’ emoluments, share option schemes and pension entitlements are given in note 4.
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Share-based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is due
only to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Notes to the financial statements of the Company continued
(forming part of the financial statements)

25 Property, plant and equipment

									
Short leasehold
										 premises and
										 improvements
										
£000

Computer
and office
equipment
£000

Total
£000

Cost			
Balance at 1 January 2009								
Additions									
Disposals									

127
270
(44)

82
103
(33)

209
373
(77)

Balance at 31 December 2009 							

353

152

505

Depreciation and impairment 		
Balance at 1 January 2009								
Depreciation charge for the period							
Disposals									

5
70
(10)

8
40
(12)

13
110
(22)

Balance at 31 December 2009 						

65

36

101

Net book value			
At 31 December 2008								

122

74

196

At 31 December 2009								

288

116

404

												
												
												
												

Shares
in Group
undertakings
£000

26 Fixed asset investments

Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 2009

							

32,162

Provisions
At 1 January and 31 December 2009									

(1,190)

Net book value
At 1 January and 31 December 2009

30,972

							

The Company has the following investments in subsidiaries:
		

Ownership

		

Country of
incorporation

Class of
shares held

2009

2008

Berkeley Scott Limited
Quantica Limited
Quantica Group Limited(1)
Quantica Solutions Limited(1)
RK Group Limited(1)

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings							
Other receivables									
Prepayments and accrued income								

3,404
132
530

4,513
—
349

											

4,066

4,862

(1) Indirectly held.

The Company also owns one (2008: 23) non-trading company which is registered in England and Wales.
27 Debtors

Included within amounts owed by Group undertakings is an amount of £3,404,000 (2008: £4,513,000) due after more than one year.
28 Trade and other payables

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Trade creditors										
Other taxation and social security								
Accruals and deferred income								

378
—
1,158

241
8
433

											

1,536

682
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29 Other interest-bearing loans and borrowings

31 December
2008
£000

Bank loans										

2,320

3,295

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Within one year										
In the second to fifth years									
Over five years										

2,320
—
—

975
2,320
—

											

2,320

3,295

The maturity of bank loans and overdrafts is as follows:

The bank loans and overdrafts are secured through deeds of composite guarantees and mortgage debentures on Group companies.
The loan attracts interest at 4% per annum above LIBOR.
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31 December
2009
£000
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30 Provisions

Balance at 1 January 2009										
Provisions made during the period									
Provisions used during the period									

385
1,133
(525)

Balance at 31 December 2009 									

993

Onerous contracts and dilapidations predominantly relate to the costs payable on properties which have been vacated and incremental
costs that will be incurred on exiting existing properties where a commitment to do so exists at the balance sheet date.
31 Called up share capital

											
											
											

31 December
2009
£000

31 December
2008
£000

Authorised		
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each								

2,895

2,895

Allotted, called up and fully paid		
Ordinary shares of £0.02 each								

1,742

1,742

Capital
redemption
reserve
£000

Profit
and loss
account
£000

Details of share options are given in note 17 to the Consolidated financial statements.
32 Share premium and reserves

									
									
									
									

Share		
premium
Merger
account
reserve
£000
£000

At beginning of period							
Profit for the period								
Share-based payments credit							

13,728
—
—

16,081
—
—

2
—
—

(3,385)
1,351
(67)

At end of period							

13,728

16,081

2

(2,101)

33 Contingent liabilities
At the 2009 period end the invoice discounting overdraft balances in the Company’s subsidiaries amounted to £2,551,102 and were
secured by cross guarantees and mortgage debentures on the Company (2008: £nil).
34 Pension scheme
Defined contribution pension scheme
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The pension cost charge for the period represents contributions payable
by the Company to the scheme and amounted to £58,914 (2008: £53,342). Pension contributions totalling £3,700 (2008: £7,641) were
outstanding at the end of the financial period.
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Onerous
												 contracts and
												 dilapidations
												
£000

Notice of annual general meeting

(incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registration number 02228050)

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of members of the Kellan Group plc (the “AGM”) will be held at 4th Floor,
27 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3BL on Tuesday 18 May 2010 at 10.00am for the purposes of considering and, if thought fit,
passing the resolutions listed below.
All resolutions, with the exception of Resolutions 9 and 11, will be proposed as ordinary resolutions. Resolutions 9 and 11
will be proposed as special resolutions.
Ordinary business
To propose the following resolutions and transact any other ordinary business of an AGM:
Resolution 1
THAT the directors’ report, statement of accounts and independent auditors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009
be received and approved.
Resolution 2
THAT A H Reeves be re-elected a director of the Company having retired in accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Resolution 3
THAT J P Bowmer be re-elected a director of the Company having retired in accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Resolution 4
THAT M E Jackson be re-elected a director of the Company having retired in accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Resolution 5
THAT J McHugh be elected as a director having retired in accordance with Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
Resolution 6
THAT R D Eades be elected as a director having retired in accordance with Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
Resolution 7
THAT BDO LLP be and is re-appointed as auditor of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this Meeting until the conclusion
of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company at a remuneration to be fixed by the directors.
Special business
To propose the following resolutions:
Resolution 8
THAT the directors be generally and unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 to exercise
all the powers of the Company to allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares:
(a)	up to an aggregate nominal amount of £580,575; and
(b)	comprising equity securities (as defined in Section 560(1) of the Companies Act 2006) up to a further nominal amount of £580,575
in connection with an offer by way of rights issue,
and such authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the date falling 15 months after the passing of this
resolution, whichever is the earlier (both dates inclusive) but so that this authority shall allow the Company to make offers and enter
into agreements during the relevant period which would, or might, require shares to be allotted or rights to subscribe for or to convert
any security into shares to be granted after the authority ends.
This authority is in addition and without prejudice to any subsisting unutilised authorities conferred upon the directors under Section 80
of the Companies Act 1985 or Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 and is without prejudice to any allotment of shares or grant of
rights already made or offered or agreed to be made pursuant to all previous authorities conferred on the directors in accordance with
such sections.
For the purposes of this resolution, “rights issue” means an offer to:
(i)

ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and

(ii)	people who are holders of other equity securities if this is required by the rights of those securities or, if the directors consider it
necessary, as permitted by the rights of those securities, to subscribe further securities by means of the issue of a renounceable
letter (or other negotiable document) which may be traded for a period before payment for the securities is due,
but subject in both cases to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates or legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any territory.
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Special business continued
Resolution 9
THAT, subject to the passing of the preceding resolution, the directors be empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in Section 560(1)
of the Companies Act 2006) wholly for cash:
(a)	pursuant to the authority given by paragraph (a) of Resolution 8 on page 44 or where the allotment constitutes an allotment
of equity securities by virtue of Section 560(2) of the Companies Act 2006:
in connection with a pre-emptive offer; and
otherwise than in connection with a pre-emptive offer, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £261,259; and
(b) pursuant to the authority given by paragraph (b) of Resolution 8 above in connection with a rights issue,

Governance

as if Section 561(1) of the said Act did not apply to any such allotment, such power to expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the
Company or the date falling 15 months after the passing of this resolution, whichever is the earlier (both dates inclusive) but so that
the Company may before the expiry of any power contained in this resolution make offers or enter agreements which would, or might,
require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or
agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
For the purposes of this resolution:
“rights issue” has the same meaning as Resolution 8 above;

(ii)	“pre-emptive offer” means an offer of equity securities open for acceptance for a period fixed by the directors to holders (other than
the Company) on the register on a record date fixed by the directors of ordinary shares in proportion to their respective holdings but
subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to treasury shares,
fractional entitlements, record dates or legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the law of, any territory;
(iii)	references to an allotment of equity securities shall include a sale of treasury shares; and
(iv)	the nominal amount of any securities shall be taken to be, in the case of rights to subscribe for or convert any securities into
shares of the Company, the nominal amount of such shares which may be allotted pursuant to such rights.
Resolution 10
THAT the amendments, detailed below, to The Berkeley Scott Group Company Share Option Plan 2004 (the “Plan”), the rules of which are
produced to the AGM and initialled by the Chairman for the purposes of identification, are hereby approved in accordance with Rule 28
of the Plan and the directors be authorised to alter the Plan accordingly.
Amendments to the Plan
The Plan shall be renamed “The Kellan Group Company Share Option Plan 2004”.
For Rule 10.2, substitute the following:
“10.2 T
 he number of shares in respect of which Subscription Options may be granted on any date, when added to the number
of Shares issued or issuable pursuant to rights to subscribe for Shares granted in the period of ten years ending on that
date pursuant to this Plan or any other employees’ share scheme, shall not exceed 15% of the Ordinary Share Capital.”
Resolution 11
That the following provision be inserted into the Company’s Articles of Association after Article 166:
“ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
167. Subject to and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006:
167.1	the Company may send or supply any notices, documents or information to members, or persons nominated by members,
in electronic form including by making such notices, documents or information available on a website;
167.2	a person in relation to whom the following conditions are met is taken to have agreed that the Company may send
or supply any notices, documents or information in that manner:
		

167.2.1 	the person has been asked individually by the Company to agree that the Company may send or supply any
notices, documents or information generally, or the notices, documents or information in question; and

		

167.2.2 	the Company has not received a response within the period of 28 days beginning with the date on which the
Company’s request was sent.”

By order of the Board

IMCO Secretary Limited
Company Secretary
23 April 2010
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Notice of annual general meeting continued

(incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registration number 02228050)

Notes
1.	A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the Company)
to attend and to speak and to vote on his or her behalf whether by show of hands or on a poll. In order to be valid an appointment
of proxy (together with any authority under which it is executed or a copy of the authority certified notarially) must be returned to the
Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours
before the time of the Meeting.
	Appointment of a proxy does not preclude a member from attending the AGM and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy
and attend the Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated. You can only appoint a proxy using the
procedures set out in these notes and the notes to the proxy form.
	You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. In the event
of a conflict between a blank proxy form and a proxy form which states the number of shares to which it applies, the specific proxy
form shall be counted first, regardless of whether it was sent or received before or after the blank proxy form, and any remaining
shares in respect of which you are the registered holder will be apportioned to the blank proxy form. You may not appoint more
than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more than one proxy, you should contact Capita Registrars,
PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.
	To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the appropriate box on your proxy form with an “X”.
2. 	CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for
the AGM and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or
other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider, should refer to their
CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. In order for a proxy
appointment or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”)
must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain the information
required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted so as to be received by the
Company’s agent, Capita Registrars Limited (CREST Participant ID: RA10), no later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the
AGM. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to the message
by the CREST Application Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner
prescribed by CREST.
	CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsor or voting service provider should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited
does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore
apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the
CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider, to procure that his
CREST sponsor or voting service provider takes) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsor or
voting service provider are referred in particular to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST
system and timings.
	The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated
Securities Regulations 2001.
3.	To change your proxy instructions simply submit a proxy appointment using the methods set out above. Note that the cut-off time
for receipt of proxy appointments (see above) also applies in relation to amended instructions; any amended proxy appointment
received after the relevant cut-off time will be disregarded. If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment
received last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will take precedence.
4.	In order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform the Company by sending a signed hard-copy notice clearly stating your
intention to revoke your proxy appointment to Capita Registrars, PXS, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.
In the case of a member which is a Company, the revocation notice must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf
by an officer of the Company or an attorney of the Company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the revocation
notice is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must be included with the revocation notice. In either case the
revocation notice must be received not less than 48 hours before the time of the AGM. If you attempt to revoke your proxy appointment
but the revocation is received after the time specified then, subject to note 1 above, your proxy appointment will remain valid.
5.	A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but must attend the Meeting to represent you. Details of how to appoint
the Chairman of the Meeting or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out in the notes to the proxy form. If you
wish your proxy to speak on your behalf at the Meeting you will need to appoint your own choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and
give your instructions directly to them.
6.	The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose shares are held on their behalf by another person and who have been
nominated to receive communication from the Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“nominated
persons”). Nominated persons may have a right under an agreement with the registered member who holds shares on their behalf
to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such a right, or do
not wish to exercise it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the person holding the shares as to
the exercise of voting rights. Your main point of contact in terms of your investment in the Company remains the registered member
(or, perhaps, your custodian or broker) and you should continue to contact them and not the Company regarding any changes or
queries regarding your personal details and your interest in the Company. The only exception to this is where the Company expressly
requests a response from you.
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Notes continued
7.	A corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise, on its behalf, all its
powers as a member provided that no more than one corporate representative exercises powers over the same share.
8.	In order to be able to attend and vote at the AGM or any adjourned meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating how many
votes a person may cast), a person must have his/her name entered on the register of members of the Company no later than
48 hours before the Meeting or any adjourned meeting. Changes to entries on the register of members after this time shall be
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the Meeting.
9.	A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the
resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. Your proxy will vote
(or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the Meeting.

Governance

10. 	Under Section 319A of the Companies Act 2006, the Company must answer any question you ask relating to the business being
dealt with at the Meeting unless:
(i)	answering the question would interfere unduly with the preparation for the Meeting or involve the disclosure
of confidential information;
(ii)	the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or
(iii)	it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the Meeting that the question be answered.
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11. 	Biographical details of the directors who are standing for re-election are set out in the annual report accompanying the Notice of Meeting.
12.	Information regarding the Meeting, including the information required by Section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, is available
from www.kellangroup.co.uk.
13.	The following documents will be available for inspection at the Company’s registered office from the date hereof until the time
of the Meeting and at the Meeting venue itself for at least 15 minutes prior to the Meeting and until the end of the Meeting:
(a)	copies of The Berkeley Scott Group Company Share Option Plan 2004, as amended;
(b)	copies of the Company’s existing Articles of Association; and
(c)	copies of the Company’s Articles of Association, displaying the amendments proposed under Resolution 11.
14.	Except as provided above, members who have general enquiries about the Meeting should use the following means of communication
(no other methods of communication will be accepted):
calling 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus network extras; lines are open 8.30am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday);
by emailing ssd@capitaregistrars.com; and
	by writing to Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU.
You may not use any electronic address provided either in this AGM or any related documents (including the proxy form) to communicate
with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.

Explanation of the resolutions contained in the Notice of Meeting
The purpose of this section (which does not form part of the notice) is to explain certain elements of the business to be considered
at the AGM. Resolutions 1 to 7 are standard matters that are dealt with at every AGM. Resolutions 8 to 11 are special business to
be considered at the AGM.
Ordinary business
Approval of report and accounts (Resolution 1)
Shareholders will be asked to approve the directors’ report and the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009.
Election of directors (Resolutions 2 to 6)
Under the Company’s Articles of Association, at the third AGM after the general meeting at which they were appointed, each director
must retire from office and seek re-election.
Therefore, A H Reeves, J P Bowmer and M E Jackson, will be standing for re-election.
Similarly, any director who has been appointed since the last AGM must also retire from office and seek election.
J McHugh and R D Eades will therefore be standing for election.
Re-appointment of auditors (Resolution 7)
Shareholders will be asked to vote on the re-appointment of BDO LLP as the Company’s auditor and to authorise the directors to agree
the remuneration of the auditor.
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(incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 1985 with registration number 02228050)

Explanation of the resolutions contained in the Notice of Meeting continued
Special business
Authority of directors to allot shares (Resolution 8)
If approved, this resolution (which is proposed as an ordinary resolution) will enable the directors to allot new shares in the capital
of the Company.
Under the Companies Act 2006, directors are not permitted to allot new shares (or grant certain rights over shares) unless authorised
to do so by the Company’s Articles of Association or the shareholders. At the last AGM of the Company, which was held on 21 May 2009,
the directors were given the authority to allot relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £580,575. This authority expires
at the end of this year’s AGM.
The Board considers it appropriate that directors continue to have the authority to allot unissued ordinary shares. Therefore, this resolution
seeks to grant a new authority, under Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, to authorise the directors to allot new shares in the Company
and grant rights to subscribe for, or convert other securities into, shares in the Company.
The authority in paragraph (a) of Resolution 8 will allow the directors to allot new shares and grant rights to subscribe for, or convert
other securities into, shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £580,575 which is equivalent to approximately 33.3% of the total
issued ordinary share capital of the Company, exclusive of treasury shares, as at 22 April 2010, the latest practicable date before the
printing of the notice. The authority in paragraph (b) of Resolution 8 will allow the directors to allot new shares and other relevant
securities only in connection with a pre-emptive offer by way of a rights issue up to a further nominal value of £580,575.
As at the close of business on 22 April 2010, the latest practicable date before the printing of the notice, the Company held no treasury shares.
The directors consider it desirable to have the maximum flexibility permitted by corporate governance guidelines to respond to market
developments and to enable allotments to take place to finance business opportunities as they arise.
If approved, the authority granted under Resolution 8 will be valid until the conclusion of the AGM in 2011 or the close of business
on the date falling 15 months from date of the resolution, whichever is earlier, subject to the exception set out in Resolution 8.
The authority proposed under Resolution 8 is in addition and without prejudice to the authority granted to the directors under
the special resolution passed on 18 January 2010.
Partial disapplication of pre-emption rights (Resolution 9)
If the directors wish to allot new shares and other equity securities, or sell treasury shares, for cash (other than in connection with an
executive or employee share scheme), Company law requires that these shares are offered first to shareholders in proportion to their
existing holdings.
If approved, this resolution (which is proposed as a special resolution) will enable the directors to allot new shares in the Company,
and to sell treasury shares, for cash, as if the pre-emption restrictions set out in Section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not apply.
The purpose of paragraph (a) of Resolution 9 is to authorise the directors to allot new shares pursuant to the authority given
in paragraph (a) of Resolution 8, or sell treasury shares, for cash:
(i)

in connection with a pre-emptive offer; or

(ii)	otherwise up to a nominal value of £261,259, equivalent to 15% of the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company
as at 22 April 2010, the latest practicable date before the publication of the notice,
in each case without the shares first being offered to existing Shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings.
The purpose of paragraph (b) of Resolution 9 is to authorise the directors to allot new shares pursuant to the authority given by paragraph (b)
of Resolution 8, or sell treasury shares, for cash in connection with a rights issue without the shares first being offered to existing
Shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. This is in line with corporate governance guidelines.
If approved, the authority will be valid until the conclusion of the AGM in 2011 or 15 months from date of the resolution, whichever
is the sooner, subject to the exception set out in Resolution 9.
The Board considers the authority in Resolution 9 to be appropriate in order to allow the Company flexibility to finance business opportunities
or to conduct a pre-emptive offer or rights issue without the need to comply with the strict requirements of the statutory pre-emption provisions.
Amendment to the Company Share Option Plan 2004 (Resolution 10)
Employee participation remains a priority for the Company and the Board believes that The Berkeley Scott Group Company Share Option
Plan 2004 (“the Plan”) helps to align the interests of employees and Shareholders and contributes to the success of the Company.
Currently, Rule 10 of the Plan (Overall Limit of the Granting of Options) sets the maximum number of ordinary shares over which options
may be granted at 10% of the issued ordinary shares at the date of grant. When calculating the overall 10% limit, the number of shares
already issued or issuable pursuant to rights to subscribe for shares granted in the period of ten years ending on the relevant date of
grant pursuant to the Plan and any other Company employee share scheme must be included.
The Company wishes to increase the overall limit at Rule 10 to 15% of the ordinary share capital as the Company is keen to incentivise
current and prospective directors and employees by the granting to them of additional options over shares in the Company. This proposed
increase is believed to be in the best interests of the Company and will also align the overall limits of the Plan with the corresponding
provision of the Company’s approved 2009 SAYE share option scheme. Under the rules of the Plan, shareholder approval (by ordinary
resolution) is required to implement such an increase. Resolution 10 seeks such approval.
A copy of the Plan’s rules, showing the proposed amendments is available for inspection as detailed in the notes to the Notice of Meeting.
Amendments to the Articles of Association (Resolution 11)
The directors are seeking shareholder approval of amendments to the Articles of Association to take advantage of changes in English
company law relating to electronic communication with shareholders as introduced in the Companies Act 2006.
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